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--- On commencing at 9:39 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Are there any preliminary matters before we recommence?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Just this, Mr. Sommerville.  I can confirm for the Board that the following undertakings have been filed this morning:  J5.2, J5.6, J6.6, J6.10 and J7.5.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I just note that the Panel, or at least I, do not seem to have J7.5.  I beg your pardon.  I do have it.

Thanks very much.  Is there any other preliminary matter that we need to deal with?  Mr. Buonaguro, I think you were in train.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I would just remind the witnesses that you are still under oath.  Thank you.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 5: AMPCO HIGH 5 PROPOSAL, RESUMED
^
Mitchell Rothman, Previously Affirmed.


John Dalton, Previously Sworn.


Robert C. Yardley, Jr., Previously Affirmed.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just quick on the undertaking responses.  I am not getting all of them electronically.  Are they going to be filed electronically?  I think I got one or two of them, but they're not coming out at the same time.  They're coming in paper copy.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  If they haven't been, they will be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you very much.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.  I am going to pick up where I left off, and it is on to a new topic, and this has to do with your analysis of Dr. Sen's approach.

And I am going to pull up, just for reference purposes, page 37 of your report, which is where it starts, and I think the analysis is between pages 37 and 40.  I am not going to actually refer to anything specific, but that is the area I think we are talking about.

And in reading those pages, I think I can fairly summarize your criticisms of Dr. Sen's approach on four points.  I am going to paraphrase them and ask you if you agree if I have paraphrased them properly.

So, first, you talk about the lack of properly specified and constrained production function, or of a properly specified and constrained production function.

Two, you talk about the low R2 values and the likely omission of explanatory variables.

Three, you talk about the existence of multicollinearity - and the reporter can come back to me if she needs the spelling of that - amongst the explanatory variables.

And, four, you discuss the fact that the estimated coefficients were not robust under different -- under different estimation periods.

Does that fairly characterize the four main concerns you had with Dr. Sen's analysis?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes, I think that does.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am not sure if your mic is on.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Oh, you're right.  It isn't.  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I heard you, but it wasn't amplified.  So thank you.

Were there any other concerns that aren't captured on those four points?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Those are the major concerns we had.  I think they fairly summarize what our concerns were.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And then based on those concerns, you conclude at page 40 of your report -- and since this is a new transcript, maybe I will just refer the reporter.  It is Exhibit H1, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment 1.

At page 40, you conclude that none of the estimates determined are a reasonable point estimate of the elasticity.  That is a basic summary of the conclusion?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes, that is a basic summary.  I am not -- oh, I was on the wrong page.  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I think I probably asked you this yesterday, but I am assuming you have had an opportunity to review the updated analysis undertaken by Dr. Sen and filed in this proceeding at the AMPCO evidence at attachment 1?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And does the revised analysis address any of the concerns you had with the original report?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  Dr. Sen's analysis, by the use of the generalized least squares methodology, certainly addresses the issue of multicollinearity, and his revised -- his new equations, his new estimates, have much higher R-squareds, in part, because he has added variables.

In this new report, Dr. Sen has talked about specifying a production function, but then says, because of the available data, he essentially doesn't use the production function that he specified.  He uses a relatively more simple form of his equation, and, therefore, he still hasn't done the -- constrained the problem in the same way that the -- the elasticity substitution estimates do.

And, also, the estimators from his new report are robust in the sense that they are reasonably consistent in terms of their levels of magnitude -- in terms of their signs.  They don't change signs, in general.  They don't move around a lot.  They tend to be statistically significant.  But as point estimators, they still suffer from the same problem, that they're not reliable enough across the years, if you look at those elasticity estimates.

They're not reliable enough across the years to be able to use them, I think, as point estimates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  So of the -- it sounds to me like of the four points that you made in your report, he has, at least to some degree, addressed the R2 values and the multicollinearity points, but that the first and fourth points that I talked about, the lack of a properly specified and constrained production function and the robustness of the estimated coefficients are still problems, in your view?

Have I summarized that properly?

MR. ROTHMAN:  His report addressed all of those issues; that is, he had something in his report that addressed all of those issues.  In his report, he talked about a production function.  In his report, he talked about the robustness of his estimators.

My concern is that the estimators, while robust in a sense -- and I said in our report that relative to some econometric estimates, these estimators are reasonably robust, but for use as point estimates, they have a fair amount of variance across the years.

So he has addressed those issues.  He has more effectively addressed the issues of the low R-squared and omitted variables and multicollinearity.  The production function remains a problem, because it is unconstrained, and the estimators remain not robust enough, I think, to be used as point estimators.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, you may have covered this in part of your answer, but I will ask it just as a separate question.

Are there any new concerns that you have with this analysis based on the updated evidence that was filed?

MR. ROTHMAN:  He has used reasonably well-accepted econometrics techniques -- well-accepted econometric techniques.   I don't have any concerns with those techniques.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  And, overall, do you have any comments regarding the reliability of the results of the new analysis provided by AMPCO?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Pardon?  I'm sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have any comments regarding the results of the new analysis provided by AMPCO, just generally?  We have talked about the specific techniques and such, but obviously the new analysis has results and I wanted to give you an opportunity to comment on those results.

MR. ROTHMAN:  The results, in general, the elasticity estimates are in the same range as the original elasticity estimates.  I don't have any problems with that.  I think they make -- the estimates are reasonable, are generally within the range of elasticity estimates from elsewhere.

They are using more up -- more recent data than the earlier estimates, and I think that that makes a contribution.

So I think that's a reasonable -- I think that they do improve the previous results in the sense of having better -- as we have said, better goodness of fit.  They have a better specification.  They have included more variables.  So it is a somewhat more careful analysis than the original analysis was.

But I think that, as we've said, there are still some concerns.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And presumably those concerns are why you would suggest that PA's analysis should be preferred in terms of its results?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  And also I continue to prefer the use of substitution elasticities to the use of own-price elasticities.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

On a different topic, Mr. Rothman, based on your economics background, we're assuming that you are familiar with the concept of Ramsey pricing.

MR. ROTHMAN:  I am not an expert on Ramsey pricing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is there anybody on the panel who can speak to Ramsey pricing?

MR. YARDLEY:  I am generally familiar with Ramsey pricing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you have to turn your mic on.  Thank you.

MR. YARDLEY:  I am generally familiar with Ramsey pricing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And I mention it because AMPCO refers to that in their prefiled evidence.  I am going to turn that up for you.  I am actually going to start with the AMPCO evidence, page 4.

Actually, I'm sorry, I am going to actually start with page 3.

I have highlighted the section.  Their evidence states at lines 11 to 14:

"AMPCO's proposal is also consistent with two basic principles of public utility economics: (i) that capacity prices should be borne by consumers on the basis of their contribution to peak demand; and (ii) that minimizing inefficiency is best achieved by raising prices in inverse proportion to demand elasticities."

And then over on the page at line 14, at page 4, the evidence states that this principle -- or the evidence asserts this principle as being an expression of Ramsey pricing.

I would like to ask you about two issues.

One, is raising prices in inverse proportion to demand elasticity an appropriate way of describing Ramsey pricing?

MR. YARDLEY:  Based on what I understand of the theory of Ramsey pricing, that would be correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And second, do you agree that minimizing inefficiency is best achieved by adjusting prices in this way?

MR. YARDLEY:  In a theoretical construct where Ramsey pricing would be appropriate, it may be, but there are many concerns about applying Ramsey pricing, as well.

I don't think it is possible to, in the abstract, say that in every case, Ramsey pricing would be appropriate or be accepted by a regulatory commission.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, again with page 4, lines 10 to 14, you'll see the claim that:

"Recovering network costs on the basis of demand during periods of peak demand is consistent with Ramsey pricing because, by definition, those customers who are most sensitive to increases in price and capable of adjusting their demand in response to price will end up paying less than they otherwise would."

Now, again, given your understanding of Ramsey pricing, do you agree with this statement?  And I can break it down into two parts.

First, do you consider the AMPCO High 5 proposal to recover all transmission network costs based on customer demand for the peak hour and the highest five load days of the year to be consistent with Ramsey pricing?

MR. YARDLEY:  When I looked at this and when I looked at this section of the evidence, I broke it down into, really, the two separate issues.

One is the first principle, I believe, related to capacity prices should be borne by customers on the basis of their contribution to peak demand.  And that is really a fact-specific question.

To the extent that costs are driven by peak demand, or in this case by peak demand during five hours, then it may be appropriate to have a rate design that recovers those costs in the same manner.

To the extent that costs are -- have been incurred in the past or even likely to occur in the future, based on, you know, some broader measure of demands throughout the entire year or for a broader period than five hours, then it wouldn't be appropriate.  The High 5, in my opinion, would not be appropriate.

And I think that, in my opinion, that is the case here.  Neither looking backward, in terms of the patterns of demands historically in Ontario that led to the transmission network as it exists today, while the system may be becoming more of a summer peaking system, it really -- looking at the investments that have been made in the past, I don't think the High 5 would be the method chosen as appropriate to recover those costs.

And looking forward, there are issues of, Well, it may get to the point some time off in the future where it is appropriate to have this sort of narrow or more narrow allocation or rate design charge-determinant methodology.

So I looked at that issue first.

And then with respect to Ramsey pricing, I think that commissions have been reluctant to adopt Ramsey pricing because it is a form of price discrimination.  And not all price discrimination is bad; I don't mean to imply a pejorative, you know, sense when I use that term.  To the extent that there are reasons to discriminate among customers, then it should be.

But in this case, if you have -- I think commissions have been reluctant to adopt a Ramsey-pricing approach where costs are shifted from customers that have choice to customers that really don't have choice.  Then Ramsey pricing may not be appropriate.

And I think even the theory, from what I understand of the theory, is Ramsey pricing is most appropriate when the degree of monopolistic power over these different customer segments is relatively the same.

You know, I don't really have an opinion on whether those facts are present here, but certainly an examination of Ramsey pricing should go into a little more detail than is presented in the AMPCO presentation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.

And I have one area of questioning left and then I will be done.  And it has to do with economic load shifting.

And the reference point is Exhibit I, tab 9, schedule 50.  I will pull that up for you on the screen.

So this is AMPCO Interrogatory No. 50.  And in your response, it is stated that customers might incur costs in order to respond to the peak pricing signal of AMPCO's High 5 proposal.


And my questions are these.  From a customer perspective, is it fair to say that in assessing what costs it would be appropriate to incur, they would look at the savings and transmission costs that could arise from such a shift, along with any anticipated lowering of commodity costs, and compare that with their likely costs?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  I would think that that is what a customer would do.  They would look at the costs of responding versus the benefits of responding, and determine whether and how to respond.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Then furthermore from an economic perspective, is it fair to say that they would proceed with the shift or the benefits, take into account any risks associated with achieving those benefits, exceeded their additional costs?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, from an overall provincial or societal perspective, I assume that it is important that the transmission pricing that the customer sees doesn't overstate the true value of the shift, because if it did, the customer might spend more to achieve the shift than what the true benefit of the shift was; is that fair?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes, that is fair.  You would talk about the risks here.  You mentioned risks.  And the way that we've treated this analysis is that we have incorporated into our quantitative analysis assumptions about how much -- how many hours the customer would have to shift in order to achieve some reasonable certainty or some probability of actually having shifted during the High 5 hours, because the customer can't know in advance which hours will be the High 5 hours.

So the way that we have done this analysis is to make an assumption, effectively, that the customer perceives a price based on how many hours they would expect to shift.  And we bracketed that assumption, because we don't think -- we don't know exactly how customers will respond.

Given that analysis, though, what you are asking is if, essentially, the transmission shadow price - that is, the value to the customer of avoiding transmission costs - is greater than the avoided costs to the society, then the customer would be responding to a price signal that is, in effect, incorrect and would probably over-shift for a societal basis, though its own economics would be favourable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, is it fair to say that in assessing the overall benefits of the High 5 proposal, neither your analysis nor AMPCO's original analysis factored in the costs that the customers could incur in achieving their load shifts?

MR. ROTHMAN:  We did not explicitly include those costs, no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And --


MR. ROTHMAN:  Nor did AMPCO.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And so from this perspective, is it fair to say that any benefit reported could well be overstated?

MR. ROTHMAN:  The amount of benefit that the customers would achieve is overstated by whatever their costs are, yes, but we assume that they would not shift unless they saw that benefit.

And so we have assumed the -- in doing the calculation of the shift, we assume that when they shift, they are seeing a net benefit to themselves.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Ms. Lea.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  Good morning, gentlemen.  My name is Jennifer Lea and I am representing Board Staff here.

I have a few questions for you and they are not of a deep theoretical nature, but more -- some more global questions, if I can use that term.

To begin with, I wonder if you could describe for us the status quo with respect to the network charge determinant and contrast that with the connection charge determinant.  Are they similar?  Are they different?

MR. YARDLEY:  I believe they're different.  I have primarily focussed on the network charge determinant, but I understand the determinants themselves are different.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And would you -- do you know whether they will be more similar or more different if the High 5 proposal is adopted?

MR. YARDLEY:  I do not.

MS. LEA:  Now, I wonder -- there is a reconciliation or -- I termed it that -- something we didn't understand in the evidence about the various figures, and I let my friend, Mr. Rogers, know about this yesterday so you could look at it in advance.

I would wonder if you could please turn up Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 36 and Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 37.  I'm sorry, I don't have a compendium, but I believe Mr. Thiessen can put those interrogatories on the -- I am putting the load on him.  Oh, Mr. Buonaguro has control of this.  Isn't that lovely?

[Laughter]

MR. BUONAGURO:  What were the two?

MS. LEA:  They're BOMA interrogatories.  So it is I, tab 6, schedule 36, and I am looking at part (a) of that to begin with.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You will have to join the union, Mr. Buonaguro.

MS. LEA:  Gracious.  I haven't.

Okay, gentlemen, the new figures that are presented in Exhibit I, tab 6, number 36, and it is answer (a) -- and it is the table beyond the page that you are showing, Mr. Buonaguro.  It is tables 14 and 15 there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You will see a "not responding".  There it is coming.

MS. LEA:  Oh, okay.  Number (a) there, and the next page, I think.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  We are having a little bit of trouble.  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  This one?

MS. LEA:  No.  I guess if you could go on, please?  Yes, okay, this is the one.  And if we can look at this top table here, it is listed as "corrected".

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, was this an updated...

MS. LEA:  No.  I believe that the original answer was corrected.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, okay.  There.

MR. ROGERS:  Could I ask the witnesses, do you have the actual document there?

MR. YARDLEY:  I have the document in front of me, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  All right.  So I am looking at this table, and the cost shifting that is here appears to be different than that in your original report.

Can you explain what has happened here?

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  After the report was filed, we discovered, through some discussions with the IESO, that the five highest days had not been correctly identified for purposes of evaluating the High 5 proposal.

And so at that time, the discovery interrogatories were coming in, and this appeared to be an appropriate question in which to clarify and correct the two reports.

So what you see in this response (a) is, first, identification of the corrected five highest days of peak demand for the IESO, and then it was necessary to update tables 14 and 15 in the report based on the corrected High 5 charge determinants, and so that is what we have done.

I would note that the tables 14 and 15 were combined in a table in the executive summary, as well.  We did not update that executive summary table, but I think it is table -- yes, 3.  It is really just these two tables combined.

MS. LEA:  All right.  So we need to look at this interrogatory to get the correct figures for this -- for these measures?

MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I wonder now, then, if you could look at the next BOMA interrogatory.  That is interrogatory 37.  And I am looking at part (c) of that interrogatory, and also part (d).

And as I mentioned to you earlier, there appear to be figures that are inconsistent with the interrogatory 36, and we were wondering if you could assist us with that, please.

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  I can, because although this was not prepared by me, in preparing for cross-examination I had the same question when I saw section (c) in terms of where those numbers came from.

And after chasing down the references, exhibit references that are contained within the response to 37(c), I realized that the allocation of the 2011 revenue requirement is based on a forecast of charge determinants prepared by Hydro One.

And the information in tables 14 and 15 that we just discussed are based on actual charge determinants from 2009.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So that is the reason for the apparent inconsistency here, but it isn't a real inconsistency.  It is just a different data source?

MR. YARDLEY:  Exactly.

MS. LEA:  So which one do you think we should be looking at, then, in assessing the actual data here?

MR. YARDLEY:  Well, in my opinion, it is much better to have -- if you are comparing two methodologies, I would prefer to have actual data based on the same time period, and that is why we used the 2009 data.  It was the most recent data available.  We could compare both the charge determinants under the existing methodology, based on actual customer data, to the charge determinants under the High 5 methodology, again, based on actual determinants.

Now, that focuses only on one year.  You may say:  Well, we would like to look at other years as well.  But it gives you, for a common year, what the impact of the proposal would be.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  So that would be -- we should look at Interrogatory 36?

MR. YARDLEY:  In my opinion, yes.

MS. LEA:  I understand, sir.  You can only give your own opinion.

Let's go back, then, to Interrogatory 36 for a moment, please, and again at those two tables.  I would like to look at table 15, please, and that is in part (a) there.  Thank you.

And that table, the demand shift there that we are looking at, that is based on the medium-elasticity scenario; am I correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So is there a new percentage to describe the decreasing cost responsibility of direct customers?

So in other words, in your original calculations, it was 26.5 percent.  I am wondering if there is a new decrease that we should look at.

MR. YARDLEY:  I did not calculate the percentage decrease from 48.6 million to -- from 66 million.  I didn't calculate that percent decrease.

MS. LEA:  Can you indicate directionally whether it would be larger or smaller than 26.5 percent?

MR. YARDLEY:  I suppose the best answer would require a calculator.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  One moment.  That is okay, sir.  We can move along.

Now, that's the medium-elasticity scenario.  With a high-elasticity scenario, the shift could be nearly twice as large as the cost shift that we are looking at under medium elasticity; am I correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  I didn't perform that calculation, but I would expect it would be larger.

MS. LEA:  Well, we were just looking at the numbers, and we were looking at table 12 in your report and comparing it with these numbers in table 15, and just noticing that... just a moment.

So looking at table 12 in your report, which appears at page 50 of your report, it was just our observation, looking at table 12 at the top of page 50, that 151 was about twice 86.  That was the rough guess we were making.

MR. YARDLEY:  Right, but that would apply only to the load-shifting impact, and as you can see from tables 14 and 15, the vast majority of the cost shift is attributable to the change in methodology.

So while the impact would be larger, I don't know, from a percentage standpoint, how large it would be.  It certainly would not be double.

MS. LEA:  It would not be double?

MR. YARDLEY:  No.  It would be much smaller than double, because the majority of the cost shifting is from the change in methodology, as opposed to the load shifting.

MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.

Can I put it this way?  As the elasticity of demand by directs increases, the share of the cost borne by direct customers decreases?

MR. YARDLEY:  That would be correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And conversely, if their elasticity turns out to be smaller than is estimated, then the share of the costs that has been estimated to be borne by directs under the new methodology would be smaller?

MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I wonder if we could look at an interrogatory from VECC, and it was Interrogatory No. 67.  And there is a conclusion there drawn by Boisvert and his cohorts in their 2004 piece of work, and it is schedule 67(c), the answer there.

And I don't know whether you need to look at it, but I can read it to you.  It says:

"Price response is highest for high prices of short duration, and falls rather dramatically as the duration of high prices increases."

Is that in fact your view, as well?

I guess this might be Mr. Rothman.  And I can repeat the -- you can see the highlighted...

MR. ROGERS:  Well, maybe the witness would like to get the document.

MS. LEA:  Sure.

MR. ROGERS:  If that would be all right, Mr. Chair.

MS LEA:  Absolutely.

MR. ROTHMAN:  I'm sorry.  I --


MS. LEA:  I will repeat the reference, sir.  It is a VECC interrogatory, 67.  So it is Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 67, and it is part (c) of that answer.  It appears on the screen, but I can understand why you would want to look at the hard copy.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Sorry, Ms. Lea.  I was looking at the AMPCO interrogatories.  Now I will turn up the VECC ones and get it.

MS. LEA:  Okay.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Thank you.  The screen has the answer, but I wanted to look up the question as well.

MS. LEA:  Oh, I do beg your pardon, sir.

MR. ROTHMAN:  The electronics are very well, but as I said, I am a confirmed old paper user.

MS. LEA:  Well, it is a safe way to go, Mr. Rothman.  And so while I was trying to get at here is whether or not you can agree with the statement that you quoted in your answer to VECC 67, which is:

"Price response is highest for high prices of short duration, and falls rather dramatically as the duration of high prices increases."

Is that in general your view?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.

And the Ontario studies referred to in Dr. Sen's work, did they involve a long period of high price, as opposed to a short period of high price?  Or do you know?

MR. ROTHMAN:  The Nash Peerbocus study that Dr. Sen refers to was in particular a study looking at the impact of events.

In this case, the event was a nuclear outage, and so would produce a relatively short period of high price in the event of an unexpected nuclear outage.  So it was looking at what is the response of exports to sudden and unexpected shocks in the system.

So that study looked only at very short-term responses.  It also asked the question about whether there was any residual effect over the next few hours, but they were mostly looking at very short-term responses to an unexpected, fairly large supply event.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And the other studies that Dr. Sen considered, if you are familiar with them?

MR. ROTHMAN:  I didn't look most of them up, I must admit.

MS. LEA:  That's fine.  I just wanted to get the -- your answer to the extent.

Now, the other thing that we noticed in your report had to do with appendix B, which was the studies in other jurisdictions.  And again, if this is not something that you are comfortable answering, you let us know.

As we understood that evidence at appendix B of your report, the ERCOT in Texas -- what does ERCOT stand for, sir?  It is all capitals, E-R-C-O-.T

MR. ROTHMAN:  Electric Reliability Council of Texas.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And PJM have determinants similar to the High 5 proposal that is being put on the table here?

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  I'm sorry, the question, Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  Yes.  Do the charge determinants that you looked at for those two jurisdictions, are they similar to the High 5 proposal that is being tabled here?

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  They're similar.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And do you know whether those jurisdictions classify their costs similar to Hydro One, that is into connection and network?

MR. YARDLEY:  I don't believe that they do.  I didn't see that in reviewing the literature, but I can't state with certainty.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So you would not know, then, what these types of charge determinants, exactly what they are applied to in these jurisdictions in terms of the characteristics of the system?

MR. YARDLEY:  I don't know how or whether they disaggregate transmission costs.

MS. LEA:  One moment, please.

Are you aware, sir, whether the systems that were studied in PJM and ERCOT systems, whether they were in a situation of surplus capacity or whether they are required to invest in network capacity now?

Can you indicate any similarity or difference to the Ontario system in that regard?

MR. YARDLEY:  Well, I am certainly aware, just from general knowledge, that ERCOT has surplus generation capacity, but like many parts of that -- like that part of the United States, there is a substantial interest in expanding the transmission network in order to move wind power from Texas north, and from northwest Okalahoma south and northeast.

So there is substantial investment in transmission that is currently being considered in that region, but it is to connect wind generation.

PJM has always been more -- has had capacity constraints within its region.  I am not familiar with current transmission expansion plans in the PJM area.

MS. LEA:  And do you know whether the pricing regime that is similar to High 5 was instituted or started during a period of stringency or during a period of surplus capacity?

MR. YARDLEY:  I believe certainly in the case of PJM that it was started during a period of fairly constrained supply.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  You have a general conclusion in your report that additional cost shifting would enable little or no real cost savings to the system as a whole.

I wonder if you could give us a little bit more detail about the conclusion and indicate whether the correction or -- if I can put it, that was made in that BOMA interrogatory you talked about, affects that conclusion.

MR. YARDLEY:  I don't know if you could point us to a citation, but in terms of the correction that was made it, really had very little impact on our conclusions.  The change was not that significant.  The pattern, the levels of change, were fairly consistent.

MS. LEA:  The general conclusion -- I was just looking at the page 77 of your report, for example.  It is the first bullet in the list at the bottom of that page:
"It is unlikely that future transmission investment would be deferred."


Can you explain the reason for that conclusion, sir?

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  I think this follows from the discussion and review of Hydro One's capital expansion plan.  And so it was our understanding, based on that review, that it was unlikely that there would be -- as a result of this cost shifting, which is really -- I mean, as a result of the load shifting, which really is not that significant at the end of the day when you are planning -- when you are looking at planning transmission investments, it is not so large as to drive transmission decisions, and, further, a lot of the future investment is not related to serving peak day, necessarily -- that it was unlikely that those -- that future transmission investment would be deferred.

That, I believe, is the basis for that conclusion.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you, sir.

And, lastly, a brief discussion.  Is this witness panel aware of the draft regulation that appears on the Ministry of Energy's website which talks about the possibility of recovering the global adjustment through a High 5 rate structure?

MR. ROTHMAN:  I have read that draft regulation, yes.

MS. LEA:  Can you describe it briefly for our purposes, sir?

MR. ROTHMAN:  As I said, I have read it.  I haven't studied it carefully.

MS. LEA:  No, that's fine.  I am not going to ask detailed questions.  Just the basic idea behind it, please?

MR. ROTHMAN:  The basic idea behind it is to allocate the global adjustment to the industrial customers on the basis of the High 5 demand.

So it directs the IESO to track the demand from industrial customers, and then allocates their -- the global adjustment to them based on their demand at the High 5 period, and then allocates the remainder of the global adjustment and subtracts whatever they pay from the total global adjustment, and then allocates the rest of that to all other customers on a per kilowatt-hour basis.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, would it be your anticipation that if this draft regulation is passed, that it would cause a change in behaviour in the direct customers?

MR. ROTHMAN:  My anticipation would be that it would create, in effect, a shadow price that would be somewhat higher, perhaps considerably higher, than the shadow prices we've computed here for the network charge determinant being allocated on the basis of the High 5.

MS. LEA:  Does that mean that it would have a greater effect on customer behaviour, one would think, than the transmission High 5?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Our analysis would suggest that it would have a greater effect on customers' behaviour than the transmission shift as a result of the High 5.

I think one problem is - and it is a problem that we suffered in our analysis, as well - is that if you start getting prices, shadow prices, in effect, that are well outside the range within which you have estimated any elasticities, you get into territory where it is very hard to be sure of your quantitative estimates.

That is, we have elasticity estimates from Dr. Sen using data from 2005 to 2008.  We are using elasticity estimates from Cheng and Mountain using data from '92, '93.

In none of these cases do we have any sustained periods or even very many periods of prices that are above even, say, $200 a megawatt-hour.  And our shadow prices here, as we've talked about, are, like, $400 a megawatt-hour.  And if you then add the global adjustment to it, you are well above that.

And so the empirical estimates that we have of elasticities start to get suspect when you try to apply those to much larger price changes than occurred in the period in which the empirical estimates occurred.

MS. LEA:  I understand.  So you don't really have the data to do any kind of quantitative analysis of such a shift?

MR. ROTHMAN:  We could do the same quantitative analysis we have done here, but it gets less and less certain.  You perhaps do more and more bracketing, of the kind that we have done with our analysis, where we say, Well, we are not sure about these elasticities, so let's take some medium, then let's take some lower and some higher.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  But just so that I am clear - and pardon the simplicity or the simplistic nature of these questions - the draft regulation would have an effect which is in the same direction of the shift in behaviour that would occur if we use High 5 for network pricing, as well?

MR. ROTHMAN:  I would expect so.

MS. LEA:  And it is -- I think I heard you say that you thought that the change of behaviour would likely be -- I know you don't know for sure -- likely be in excess of what you anticipate a change in behaviour would be due to the network High 5 proposal?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  And can you tell me, sir, do you know what percentage the commodity and global adjustment mechanism are of any direct customer's bill --


MR. ROTHMAN:  I don't know.

MS. LEA:  -- in general?   Okay.  Do you know, sir, whether local distribution companies connected to the network would be able to shift load in the same manner in response to the global adjustment mechanism High 5 pricing as a direct customer would?

MR. ROTHMAN:  As I read and understood the draft regulation, they wouldn't have the opportunity to do that, because the direct customer's allocation of the global adjustment gets subtracted from the total, and the rest is simply allocated on a per kilowatt-hour basis to all customers.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One moment.

MR. ROTHMAN:  As I said, I am not a -- I haven't read that carefully, and I wouldn't call myself an expert on it, but that's what I've read.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I wonder, Ms. Lea.  You've referenced the draft regulation.  I wonder if you could provide for the record a copy of the draft regulation.

MS. LEA:  I could.  And there is also an explanation of it on the website.  So perhaps I will, in the break, dig up what I think might be useful with respect to that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I will let the explanation -- I would rather have the explanation be on consent of the parties, but the actual draft regulation certainly.

And I will leave that explanatory note to whether the parties are comfortable with that explanatory note or whether they think it needs gloss.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You see the distinction I am making?

MR. ROGERS:  I can tell you from -- my client does not object.  So that's fine.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  We don't object.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's fine.  So the explanatory note can also go in.  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  One, I don't object, and two, I am assuming we are moving on to Mr. Crocker's examination.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But as it happens, I received an e-mail from Mr. Thompson, or everybody in the room has received an e-mail from Mr. Thompson with his written questions.  He only has three questions, and he suggests in his e-mail that Mr. Crocker should be able to hear the answers before his cross i.e., that he would be slotted in.

I can actually put them on the screen and the panel could answer them now before Mr. Crocker starts.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is a little irregular.

Mr. Rogers, do you have any comment about this suggestion?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  I consent to this under the circumstances.  It's fine.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We have elasticity of our own.

[Laughter.]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So you can proceed in that way, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. ROGERS:  I would just suggest that --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess maybe –-

MR. ROGERS:  -- we could read –- excuse me.

Mr. Chairman, someone should read the questions so that the answer then could be given.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was going to read the questions, but just, in fairness, we should probably have, for example Mr. Rogers read the entire e-mail, just in case there is anything in the bottom here that he is concerned about.

MS. LEA:  Would it be of assistance if we took our morning break at this time?  And I will look up one thing and my friends can deal with this also.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's do that.  And we can come back with some certainty here.

We will take 15 minutes and come back at quarter to.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:31 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:56 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. LEA:  I have one preliminary matter, sir, when you are ready.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  In my cross-examination of this panel, I referred to -- I called it a draft regulation.

In fact, what I was referring to, and I have now provided to the witnesses, is not a draft regulation.  It's the version on the environmental registry of the Ministry of Energy of the proposal to make a regulation.  And that proposal, then, gives a description of the regulation, and it is from that description that my questions were based.

Mr. Rothman, do you have that in front of you now?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  Yes, I do.

MS. LEA:  And it is to that description that you were referring in giving your answers?

MR. ROTHMAN:  I think not.  My recollection is that I actually read a draft of the regulation itself --


MS. LEA:  I see.

MR. ROTHMAN:  -- rather than this description, and I think this description is, surprisingly enough, descriptive and more comprehensive than the draft regulation itself.

MS. LEA:  I see.  Well, I haven't read the regulation, and my understanding is it is not publicly available at this time.

So, as I indicated, the -- but I don't know that.  So what I am proposing --


MR. ROTHMAN:  Maybe my recollection is wrong, too.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  My proposal is to file the publicly available document from the Ministry of Energy website, and that is the description.  So the exhibit number would be K8.1
EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  PROPOSAL TO MAKE A REGULATION FOUND ON ENERGY WEBSITE.

MS LEA:  Thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Sir, could I just address this question of Mr. Thompson's questions?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please.

MR. ROGERS:  I have looked at them and I have no objection to them.  My suggestion is perhaps Mr. Buonaguro, as the appointed agent for Mr. Thompson, could read the question to the witness so we will have it on the record.

I would observe, however, that in Mr. Thompson's questions and preamble, he mentions that he would like to have this evidence, so far as Hydro One is concerned and with the Hydro One witnesses, answer these questions and so on.  I just point out these witnesses are not Hydro One witnesses.  They're independent experts whose opinions are their own.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.  Mr. Buonaguro.
Questions by Mr. Buonaguro for Mr. Thompson:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So I am just going to read, for the record, the questions one by one and the panel can answer.

The first question:
"Are there any material differences between AMPCO's High 5 proposal and the 5 coincident peak methodology that is to be adopted to allocate responsibility for the Global Adjustment Mechanism amounts to electricity consumers?  And, if so, then please explain what these reference differences are as far as Hydro One is concerned."

MR. ROTHMAN:  Just looking at this quickly -- and I don't remember seeing this in the draft regulation, so maybe I am wrong about what I read or what I remember.  But the first bullet here, the definition of a class A consumer, is defined as:
"A consumer with an average monthly peak demand in excess of 5 megawatts over specified periods and is registered as a market participant with the IESO."

That is the direct customers, or "a customer of a distributor in Ontario for the entire reporting period."  That last phrase doesn't apply to the High 5 proposal.  It is my understanding the High 5 proposal would only apply to direct customers of direct market participants, industrial customers who are market participants.

The latter phrase would include large customers who are embedded or customers within or customers of a local distribution utility.  That is a noticeable difference.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Just for the record, when you say you are reading, you are read I can from J8.1?

MR. ROTHMAN:  I am.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It has to be K.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, K8.1.

MR. ROTHMAN:  That -- as I said, that's just a quick reading of this, and I haven't read it all, of course.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  The second question:
"What will be the likely total bill impact on manufacturers who acquire their electricity from LDCs under the auspices of General Service rates if AMPCO's 'High 5' proposal is I implemented?"

That is the first part of the question.  I will leave it there.

MR. YARDLEY:  We haven't calculated the impact of the High 5 proposal on the general service customers or the manufacturers.  We included a bill impact analysis on an average sense for residential customers in the report itself.

And the increase -- the High 5 proposal shifts costs to LDCs and, therefore, to customers of LDCs.  If the LDCs were to pass that increase on proportionately to all of its classes, then I would expect the impact on general service customers would be roughly equivalent to what it is on residential customers.  And it is fairly small, because we are only talking -- the network charges only represent approximately 6 percent of the total bill of a customer.

So it would be relatively small, but it would be an increase.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So just for completeness, the second part of the question was:
"Are the total bills of such manufacturers likely to go up, down or remain about the same?"

And your answer is they're likely to go up?

MR. YARDLEY:  They're likely to go up by a modest amount.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I feel obligated to ask, in terms of calculating the total bill impact on manufacturers, is that something you could do easily by undertaking for Mr. Thompson?

MR. YARDLEY:  I am assuming if we had the same type of information that we had available in order to perform this calculation, we would be able to do so.

I don't know if that information is available, though, on the OEB website or if we would have to rely on Hydro One-provided data in order to perform that calculation.  So we may need assistance from Hydro One in order to perform that analysis.

MR. ROGERS:  My friend hasn't asked for an undertaking.  I am hoping he won't, but I don't think Hydro One would have access to that data.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Maybe I can -- I think that if it can be done and -- or the question is about whether it can be done, and whether they should do it and whether Mr. Thompson actually wants it.  I think could also be asked of panel 6, because panel 6 has some witnesses who could speak to it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is a convenient option at this stage.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Okay.  So I will refer Mr. Thompson to panel 6.

And the third question:  Is there any way of implementing a pilot project to determine whether AMPCO's proposal will produce the benefits for all electricity consumers, including those connected to distributors, as described in AMPCO's evidence?  If so, then please describe the appropriate parameters for such a pilot project.

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  I am not sure this is a "yes" or "no" question.  I think the first point is that typically you would conduct a pilot program if you believe that it is likely that it will have benefits.  That would require a conclusion that the High 5 is likely an appropriate methodology, and we certainly didn't reach that conclusion in our report.

But setting that aside, assume that you believe the High 5 proposal may be an appropriate methodology.  I would have two concerns with respect to a pilot program.

Typically, you know, a pilot program -- you conduct a pilot program, and the ones I have been involved in, because there is some large group of customers and you can't implement the proposal for all of the customers, so you pick a relatively small sample, and that small sample size you can reasonably conclude is representative of the whole population.


So, for example, a pilot program for residential customers, you might be able to conduct a program for 1,000 residential customers, which would inform you with respect to the behaviour of that entire population.

Here we probably don't have a homogenous sample size.  It is a relatively small sample size.  So I would be concerned that, you know, the pilot program may not tell you -- may not inform you about how -- about the whole population.  It may only inform you about the particular customers that happen to participate.

So that would be a drawback to a pilot program.  But then on the back end, you know, the point of a pilot program is to learn something, and what you are trying to learn in this case is, you know, did the customers -- did they respond and react to and shift load in response to the High 5 proposal?

And it would be -- in this case, you would probably just directly contact them and ask them, you know, What did you do?  What did you do differently?  What was your experience?  Were the costs of shifting greater than you anticipated?  You know, how were you able to work with the program?

And you would probably get some pretty interesting information from that type of enquiry.

But then the second part would be, in terms of customer benefits, you know, What was the impact on the HOEP, the prices?  And in our report, we've expressed some caution or, you know, we have probably been diplomatic but we think we would think it would be very difficult to isolate the impacts of that load shifting by participants in the pilot program from everything else that is affecting HOEP.

So we would be, you know, not -- I think just to summarize, it is not clear to me that a pilot program would really be appropriate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a follow-up question to that.
Questions by the Board:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The proposed form of regulation, we really don't have a regulation at this stage that we could actually look at, but looking at this proposal that is on the Environmental Commissioner's website, just from the standpoint of the elasticity and the behaviour change that underlies some of the High 5 proposal, would this represent a reasonable opportunity?

I know, Mr. Rothman, that you have indicated that you would expect the behaviour change to be more pronounced under the global-adjustment adjustment.

Would this be a reasonable pilot exercise, to see how behaviour is affected?

MR. ROTHMAN:  That is, do you mean that implementing the High 5 proposal might be a pilot for the impact of implementing a similar charge methodology for the global adjustment?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Actually, the reverse.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Oh.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would the proposed regulation give us some insight as to how, within the transmission cost environment, behaviours may be driven?

I mean, presumably if you found that customers did not change their behaviour in the global environment --adjustment environment, that they would be unlikely to do so in the less-driven transmission cost environment.

Would that be a safe conclusion to draw?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes, that would be a safe conclusion.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Could I actually follow up on that?

At the same time, if they were driven by the global adjustment mechanism to change their behaviour, there would be no need to change their behaviour anymore as a result of the High 5 proposal, would they?

If they're already changing because of the regulation, you don't need to make them change again?

MR. ROTHMAN:  I don't -- that is a conclusion that you would have to think -- it is really a policy question more than it is an economic question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

So those are Mr. Thompson's questions.  And I am asking to be relieved of my computer duties so I can prepare my panel 6 cross while I am listening to the rest of panel 5.  And I think Mr. Thiessen is ready to take over.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You are excused, Mr. Buonaguro.

[Laughter.]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And your service will be noted, mentioned in dispatches, as they say.

[Laughter.]

Mr. Crocker, are you prepared?

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll go to 12:30, Mr. Crocker.  Do you think you will need all of that time?

MR. CROCKER:  I do, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Good morning, panel.  My name is David Crocker, and I am counsel to AMPCO and will be asking you these questions in that context.

And I will leave it to you to decide who is the appropriate member of the panel to answer the questions.

I have some introductory questions, to help me understand to some extent who to focus, but to put into context what you have done.

Can you tell me, who was the author of the report?

MR. DALTON:  All three of us were authors of the report.

MR. CROCKER:  Did you divide it?  How did you determine who was to do what?

MR. DALTON:  There were different chapters where different individuals had lead responsibility.

MR. CROCKER:  All three of you contributed, however?

MR. DALTON:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You discussed this a little bit with my friend, Mr. Rogers, at the beginning of this, but I would like a little more detail.

Can you tell me what Power Advisory was asked to do?

MR. DALTON:  I think in the simplest terms, we were asked to provide an independent review of AMPCO's High 5 proposal.

MR. CROCKER:  And do you remember who from -- this is was a request from somebody at Hydro One?  Or "somebodies" at Hydro One?

MR. DALTON:  There was a formal RFP that was issued.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. DALTON:  Which we responded to.

MR. CROCKER:  Was there -- and I am aware of that.  Was there any additional context provided by Hydro One to the RFP, and your response to the RFP?

MR. DALTON:  No.  The only context that we got was there was, I believe, something attached in the RFP package.  We had no further discussions outside of, you know, the normal channels, and I don't believe I spoke to anyone at Hydro One until after we were identified as the contract award.

MR. CROCKER:  Were you given a better understanding after you were awarded the contract of what you were to do?

MR. DALTON:  Yes.  I think more just in terms of understanding what the High 5 proposal was.

MR. CROCKER:  But anything more, with respect to how you were to respond to it?

MR. DALTON:  Generally, no.  I mean we outlined in our proposal the scope of our analysis.

And Hydro One essentially accepted our proposal.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you look at page, small (iii) in your -- I'm sorry, there is something else I forgot to do at the beginning of this.  I was so eager to get going.

We provided a compendium, and it is in the box, Ms. Lea, on the corner.

And after telling you that we have done this, I am going to suggest to you it may not be the most helpful to you but I think it should be distributed, but it may not be the most helpful and I will tell you why.

We have included in it the Power Advisory report and the AMPCO evidence, prefiled -- the evidence that AMPCO has filed.  And that is at tab 12.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Already got it.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Then we made reference to a number of interrogatories that we were going to refer to in the evidence, and it is there.

I stopped reproducing the interrogatories at that point because the compendium was going to be as big as the volume of interrogatories, and it may be more valuable -- they're all AMPCO interrogatories, they're all at Exhibit I, schedule 9 -- it may be, and it probably will be at some point, easier for you just to go right -- and then I changed my mind as to how I was going to start.

So the first couple of interrogatory references I am going to aren't included in the compendium.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  One of the virtues of the compendium is that it avoids a lot of lost time in getting to the points in the record that you want to get to.

Another method that can be used to do that is to put the propositions to the witnesses that you want them to consider, and then if there is disagreement, then you can take them to the detail.

That may be another methodology that you may want to consider, Mr. Crocker, just in terms of efficiently getting through the material, not in any way intended to inhibit your review.

MS. LEA:  Just before we move on, then, Mr. Crocker just having a quick look at this compendium, I don't believe there is anything in here that is not in the record.  So it doesn't need to be made an exhibit.

Thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is everyone content with that?

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If you go, then, to page (iii) -- which is at... it is at tab 2 of the compendium -- and you look at the decision of the Board which you reproduced there, coming from EB-2008-0272, in the second paragraph, hydro was directed by the Board to do:
"Further analysis of AMPCO's proposal; and,
"A suitable proposal for implementation for the Board's consideration in the event the Board decides to change the charge determinant."


That is your understanding, is it not, of what Hydro One's direction by the Board was?

MR. DALTON:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  And can I ask you whether Hydro One asked you to do that; not you personally, but Power Advisory to do that?

MR. DALTON:  Power Advisory was only requested to address the first issue, to provide further analysis of AMPCO's proposal.

MR. CROCKER:  Now, have you looked at -- you have the compendium?  Look at tab 1.  That is Exhibit H1, tab 3, schedule 1.

MR. DALTON:  I see that.

MR. CROCKER:  Have you read this?

MR. DALTON:  I have not.

MR. CROCKER:  Have any of you read this?

MR. YARDLEY:  I read this in preparing for cross-examination.

MR. CROCKER:  Would you agree with me, Mr. Yardley, that there isn't anything in here relating to a description of how the High 5 proposal might be implemented should the Board choose to do that?

MR. YARDLEY:  I didn't read it with that question in mind.  I just read it quickly to see if there is anything I needed to be aware of.

MR. CROCKER:  I can save it for argument, anyway.  Perhaps if we get a break and time, you can go through it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Panel 6 does have some relevance to this subject matter, as well.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  So just to make it clear, you weren't asked to provide any information with respect to potential implementation strategy?

MR. DALTON:  The focus of our report and our analysis was on AMPCO's proposal.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  All right.  Can I ask you to turn -- and this is the first reference, Mr. Chairman, to one of the AMPCO interrogatories which is not included in the...

This is -- all of AMPCO's interrogatories are in Exhibit 1, tab 9, and the first one I would like you to look at, panel, please, is interrogatory 25 or schedule 25.

Let me know when you are there.

MR. DALTON:  I have a copy of that in front of me.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You were asked to provide an analysis, including assumptions, input data sets, calculations, results, with respect to the effect of the AMPCO proposal on the economic efficiency of the Ontario electricity market in total relative to the status quo.

And your answer was Power Advisory did not perform any quantitative analysis of the effect of the AMPCO proposal on the Ontario electricity market in total relative to the status quo.  Correct?

MR. DALTON:  Yes, that is what the response says.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Now, you know, do you not, if you look at the AMPCO proposal -- and I might suggest that you look at the compendium at tab 4 -- tab 12, rather, is the AMPCO proposal.

If you look at page 4, and particularly the numbered sentences at the last third of the page, if you look at number 2 -- and these are the purposes of the -- for the purposes of this exercise, we can call it the High 5 proposal.

The second purpose would be:
"To promote economic efficiency, cost-effectiveness in the generation, transmission, distribution, sale and demand management of electricity."

And, three:
"To promote electricity, conservation and demand management."

Okay.  Those are, I suggest to you, general purposes of the High 5 proposal.  You would agree with that, wouldn't you?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, with respect, those are the objectives contained in the Act for the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  No, I understand.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think you suggested that they were the High 5 objectives.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, they are both.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So long as we are clear about that.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. DALTON:  That is my understanding, that AMPCO has put forward that these are the objectives of the High 5 proposal.

MR. CROCKER:  Can I take it, then, from your answer to the interrogatory I put to you - that is, 25 - that you really didn't review it in that context?

MR. DALTON:  When you say "that context", I am just trying to understand.  With respect to these two objectives that are outlined on page 4 of AMPCO's evidence?

MR. CROCKER:  Sure, and as characterized by the question that you were asked in that interrogatory.

MR. DALTON:  I guess what I prefer to do is kind of step back and more broadly answer the question that you have put forward.

In our report, we did do an analysis of AMPCO's High 5 proposal.  You know, what we tried to do was focus on the major costs and the major benefits associated with the proposal, and by looking at these costs and benefits, you know, we have an opinion in terms of the economic efficiency of the High 5 proposal.

So we've tried to focus in terms of the major sources of value and the mainly or sources of benefit, as well as the potential cost to consumers.

MR. CROCKER:  Turn over the page and look at interrogatory 26 and your answer to (a).  You can read the question.

Your answer again is:
"Power Advisory didn't estimate the economic value to Ontario ratepayers of avoiding additional peak generation."

That is another piece of this that you didn't do?

MR. DALTON:  Right.  But as indicated in the response, that our analysis suggested that there isn't a need for peak generation in Ontario until 2018.

So if one considers that, one would expect that the value in terms of deferring any peak generation in 2018, in today's dollars, is going to be relatively small.

MR. CROCKER:  Let's pick this theme up from something that was said at the end of questions by, I believe, Ms. Lea, concerning when the system was developed at ERCOT and when it was developed at PJM.

You always, do you not, build transmission or make sure that transmission is sufficient to handle peaks in advance?  You don't wait for the problem to occur and respond.  You respond -- you do all of this in advance, don't you?

MR. DALTON:  One plans when one builds a transmission system.  So as part of that, we would be taking a prospective view in terms of the need for facilities.

MR. CROCKER:  Sure.  2018 is not that far in advance, is it?

MR. DALTON:  I guess I am not sure.  Is your question about transmission planning?  This response here was talking about capacity planning.

MR. CROCKER:  I know that.

MR. DALTON:  And my response was with respect to when it would be appropriate to -- you know, if you are talking about when would -- plan for new generation capacity, one needs to look at:  How long does it take to build that capacity?

MR. CROCKER:  No.  I am talking about transmission capacity.

MR. DALTON:  Okay.

MR. CROCKER:  My question still is:  2018 isn't that far in advance, is it?  It is not that far in the future?

MR. DALTON:  It isn't that far in the future, but I think that in terms of does one implement -- I think the broader question here is:  Would one implement a rate-making methodology which is, you know, predicated on deferring transmission investment that might occur in 2018?  And I think that it is not clear that it would be appropriate to do that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I understand your answer.

Okay.  Help me a bit with timing.  And this is just to remind me and to put it in front of the Board.

Do you recall when the RFP was published?

MR. DALTON:  I believe in December of 2009.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  And the decision of the Board in EB-2008-0272 directing Hydro One to do this was in May of 2008.  That's your understanding, isn't it?  I'm sorry, 2009.

MR. DALTON:  I personally don't recall.  That date sounds about right to me, but...

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So RFP was published -- was circulated in December.  When was it awarded, do you recall?

MR. DALTON:  We submitted a proposal in January.  I believe a contract award was in the March time frame.

MR. CROCKER:  Of 2010, again?

MR. DALTON:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  And your report was produced when?

MR. DALTON:  July 6th.

MR. CROCKER:  And had Hydro One seen drafts of the report before it was circulated to the public in July?

MR. DALTON:  As is customary, they saw drafts of the report.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And were there changes made as a result of their reviewing drafts?

MR. DALTON:  Yes.  They made some, you know, good comments in terms of tightening up the language, but in terms of -- to be frank -- in terms of the tone of the comments, they were very even-handed.

It was more in terms of making sure that the exposition was clear.

I never got any sense that there was a desire on their part to influence us in any way.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  I think we will get to this -- maybe I will save this question for the end.

Once again, some general notions, so I can put into context what you have done here.

I assume that you, as a panel -- and I am sure you will tell me if I am wrong -- that you encourage a rate design, transmission rate design -- I'm sorry, you support a transmission rate design which would encourage shifting load off-peak.  Do you agree with that?

MR. YARDLEY:  To the extent that peak costs are driving transmission costs, which is probably partly true in this case, then it would be appropriate to do so.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And you would agree that it is being encouraged, at least in Ontario it is being encouraged?

You see the OPA ads all over the place, encouraging it.  It was obliquely encouraged, at least, in the Chair of the Board's recent speech.

You would agree with that, wouldn't you?

MR. YARDLEY:  I haven't seen the Chair's recent speech, so I apologize.

But I know that the energy prices are certainly quite high on-peak, so there is plenty of reason for policy makers to encourage consumers to avoid those periods.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

Your analysis -- to use the words in the Board Order in EB-2008-0272 -- took issue with some of the methodological approaches taken by AMPCO and its consultants; that's correct, isn't it?

MR. DALTON:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  I would like to go through some of them with you, so that we can analyze them.

If we go to your report, there are a number of places that we can turn to for this, but let's start on page 16 under the heading "2.2.5, other comments on AMPCO's proposal" in the last sentence in the first paragraph under that heading, you say:

"A change in the charge determinants for LDCs and not just Hydro One as a result of a High 5 proposal would likely have dramatic impacts on the cost responsibility among all customers."

Do you see that?

MR. YARDLEY:  I'm searching.  I am confused by the compendium now.  I see that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I have a question about where the expression "cost responsibility" comes from and what you mean by that.

MR. YARDLEY:  Cost responsibility, as used here, refers to the end result of cost allocation and rate design at the end of the day, who bears the costs through the rates that they pay.

MR. CROCKER:  Where did the expression come from?

I must admit I am not the most experienced person in the room dealing with these issues, but I had not seen it before this.  Where did it come from?  Where does it come from?

MR. YARDLEY:  It is a term that I drafted in this report.  I can't claim that I have invented it.  If its meaning was not clear, I apologize, but it is intended to be, you know, the outcome at the end of the day, who is responsible for the costs.  I...

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Its meaning is different than cost causality, isn't it?

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  I believe those are data requests that -- or an interrogatory that went to that point.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And we needn't turn it up, but you agreed with the notion.  Cost causality, at my level, means that -- that you pay for what you use, generally speaking, broadly speaking.

Do you agree with that?

MR. YARDLEY:  No.  I would not use it in that term in a utility ratemaking --


MR. CROCKER:  Describe it to me.

MR. YARDLEY:  Cost causality would mean that your -- certain investments have been made that are necessary to provide service to you and to other customers, and when you look at those investments -- and this is fairly standard in cost allocation studies -- you would look at each sort of category of an investment and say:  What's really driving the investment in that category?

And in some cases, it may be the number of customers or meter, for example.  In other cases, it may be demand at certain times of the year.  And I think we have had some discussion in this proceeding about whether that is five peak hours or some broader period.

And so cost causality is an attempt to learn or make a determination as to what is really driving those investments.  And that is a portion of what -- that step is usually done before rate design.

Rate design typically will rely heavily on that determination, and want to recover costs based on cost causality.

But regulators will also bring in other factors that are mentioned in the data request response, in terms of fairness, you know, implementing a change more moderately or over time because of concerns about rate impacts, maybe some new policy direction that they can influence through rate design.

So there are a number of factors that affect rate design.  Cost causality is really a very important and primary determinant, but not the sole determinant.

MR. CROCKER:  I don't, then, have to ask you the next question, because you answered it before I asked it.  And you say that, don't you, at 2.3.1 on page 17, the second paragraph, the last sentence:
"The concept of cost causality assigns responsibility to customers and rate classes in accordance with their contribution to the costs that have been incurred."

Correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  A central and important issue in terms of rate design; correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  You don't see cost responsibility used in that -- in rate design concepts, generally, do you?

MR. YARDLEY:  I don't have an opinion on that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  AMPCO has taken the position historically, and takes it in its report, as well, that large industrial customers in Ontario are, to some extent, subsidizing the transmission system.

You are aware of that, aren't you?

MR. YARDLEY:  I was not.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  If you take it from me that that is AMPCO's position, cost causality -- the notion of cost causality reflects that kind of -- put it another way.

When you change cost causality, you may be changing that issue; that is, whether or not the industrials are subsidizing.  Correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  I think I can help with this.  I think I understand what you are saying.

I mean, basically in -- you know, more commonly in an LDC rate design or proceeding, you would -- first of all, you would allocate costs, and you would allocate capital costs, O&M costs, develop and allocate a measure of what the allocated cost was to each rate class, because in that case you have rate classes, unlike in this case with the transmission network.

And so the industrials would be one of those rate classes, and then you would move on to the step of rate design.  And rate design would incorporate those other factors that I discussed, as well as the results of the cost allocation study.

And so at the end of the rate design, you would be able to determine what I have called the cost responsibility for each rate class.  And if you were to compare the cost responsibility to the costs that were allocated in an attempt to reflect cost causality as accurately as possible, often it is the case that some customer classes contribute more than the average, you know, return on equity, if that is the measure, and others produce less.

And in some cases, I don't know -- I have no idea in Ontario where the different rate classes end up in that calculation.  I mean, you have suggested that the industrial customers may be contributing more than their allocated share.  I don't have an opinion on that.

MR. CROCKER:  Changes to cost causality would change that imbalance, if there is an imbalance; correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  Changes in cost causality are -- determine how costs are allocated.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. YARDLEY:  So it changes that calculation.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  Changes in cost responsibility, as you have used it, probably wouldn't impact that?

MR. YARDLEY:  No.  It would, as well.  There are two sides to the equation.  There is the costs that have been allocated, and then there is who are the costs being recovered from, which I am calling cost responsibility.

So it is both of those together that determine where the different customer classes would come out with respect to whether some customer classes are, in quotes, "subsidizing" other customer classes.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, we will analyze that further as we go along.

You say at the bottom of that same page, page 17, last paragraph:

"Transmission costs are almost entirely fixed costs ..."


And I suggest to you that is not always the case.  There are certainly transmission costs that aren't fixed.  You would agree with that, wouldn't you?

MR. YARDLEY:  I think the sentence says "almost entirely fixed costs".  So it is my understanding that the vast proportion of transmission costs are fixed costs.  They don't vary.  In other words, they don't vary with the amount of -- they tend not to vary with the amount of electricity that is -- in the short term, that's transmitted over a particular facility.  Its costs don't go up.

Some maintenance costs on the margin may go up and some operating costs, but they're really a very small proportion of transmission costs.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But that was going to be my next -- you would agree with me that there are situations where maintenance costs vary?

MR. YARDLEY:  There certainly are situations where maintenance costs vary.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And you would agree with me that -- rather than "you would agree with me", let's go to the interrogatory at tab 4, which is interrogatory 42, if I can find it.

The question is:
"Please explain with supporting analysis whether the AMPCO proposal is more or less likely compared to the current scheme to create incentives for demand response during periods of extreme weather-related increases in demand."

And you agree that it would; correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  Can you restate the question?  I didn't catch it.  I was looking at the document, so I didn't catch the question.

MR. CROCKER:  The question -- do you have tab 4 of the --


MR. YARDLEY:  I do.  I was looking at the section in the report that was cited in the question, so...

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Read the two questions.

MR. YARDLEY:  Well, there is a quotation from the consultant's report.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. YARDLEY:  And that quotation comes from a section of the report that discusses Hydro One revenue implications.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. YARDLEY:  Then there is a question that follows.  I only see one question.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, two paragraphs, one question.  I am asking you:  You agree with me that the High 5 proposal -- I will just repeat your answer.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't think we need to repeat it.  It is there on the record and in the interrogatory response.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You may want to ask the witness if he wants to change the interrogatory response, but I don't think we need to reiterate it.

MR. CROCKER:  You would agree with that response; correct?  I don't think my question particularly --


MR. YARDLEY:  No.  I think we stated in the report that the High 5 proposal would provide -- would incent on the margin demand response, in addition to the incentive that customers already have because energy prices tend to be high.  So on the margin, there would be some marginal increase in demand response.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You begin, if I could put it that way, your criticism of some of the methodologies used by AMPCO by suggesting that, at page 18, the comparison with ERCOT and PJM may not in all cases be appropriate; correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  We believe the PJM and ERCOT reference was raised in the earlier proceeding.  We believe that experience in other jurisdictions is relevant, but that ultimately a decision on rate design or cost allocation is based on the facts in the jurisdiction that you are operating in.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. YARDLEY:  So it is informative but it's not dispositive, or -- we wouldn't give it too much relevance, but it is interesting.

MR. CROCKER:  You do agree it is informative?

MR. YARDLEY:  It is always informative.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I won't go farther.  If it is a criticism, it is a pretty mild criticism.  You would agree with that?  Isn't it?

If your criticism of AMPCO for using those comparisons -- if you are criticizing AMPCO for using those comparisons, it is pretty mild criticism?

MR. YARDLEY:  I wouldn't even characterize it as a criticism.

We are acknowledging it.  It seemed interesting and relevant, and we attempted to follow up and learn a little bit more, as well, about PJM and ERCOT and reflect it in the appendix that we have included.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. YARDLEY:  For the benefit of the parties.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

We then go over to page 19 of your report, and you take issue with the appropriateness of AMPCO using the shadow price as zero; correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  Can you refer to a paragraph?  I'm sorry.

MR. CROCKER:  Right at the top of the page, you say in the sentence, second sentence of the first paragraph:

“AMPCO essentially assumes that the current transmission shadow price is zero, thus overstating the price change used to calculate the elasticity response."

MR. YARDLEY:  I see that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Were you responsible for this part of the report, Mr. Yardley?

MR. YARDLEY:  This was a joint effort, but I drafted much of this section of the report.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If I could ask you to turn to tab 7 of the compendium, to Interrogatory 33, it repeats that sentence from the -- your study, and then there are a couple of questions.

And what we are asking -- those questions ask you to do something different than -- to provide an analysis where the shadow price would be different than zero; correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If you look at your answer to question (b), which is the significant question and answer, you say:

“Computing the shadow price of network services for each customer in each month would be a difficult and onerous undertaking."

And then you go on to describe that.

You didn't do that, did you?

MR. ROTHMAN:  No, we did not.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Now, I understand, I think I understand what you did here, but would it not have been more helpful to the Board had you said Dr. Sen used a shadow price of zero, thus overstating the price change used to calculate the elasticity response?

And then, if you had said it would have been better had he done X, do you not think that would have been more helpful to the Board?

MR. DALTON:  Well, we in fact did do X.  I mean, we've provided our own analysis, and we have identified -- one of the things we were asked to do is to review the work that had been done by AMPCO and Dr. Sen.

We provided that review.  That review is largely presented in chapter 2 of our report.

And then based on that review and what we proposed to do in our proposal, we did our own independent evaluation.  And our feeling is that our own independent evaluation is the best basis upon which to evaluate the High 5 proposal put forward by AMPCO.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you not think, specifically with respect to the estimating the shadow price at zero, that what results from that in Dr. Sen's analysis would be an understatement, rather than an overstatement?

That is, it is a conservative approach?

MR. ROTHMAN:  The elasticity calculations, the load shift calculations, depend on the difference between the shadow price under the High 5 proposal and the base price.

The greater the difference, the greater the amount of load shifting.

Therefore, if the shadow price is treated as zero, and it is not zero, that creates a greater difference than there should be, and therefore a greater amount of load shifting, and therefore would tend to overstate the amount of load shifting, rather than understate it.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And what you are saying, so that I understand it, is important with respect to the elasticity of substitution; correct?

MR. ROTHMAN:  The treatment of the elasticity of substitution is different from that of own-price elasticity.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR ROTHMAN:  Nonetheless, the elasticity of substitution depends on the ratio of prices.

Sorry.  The calculation of load shifting using elasticities of substitution uses the ratio between the new price and the base price.

The calculation of load shifting, using the standard elasticity formula, uses the change in price, rather than the ratio of new price to old price.

MR. CROCKER:  What I am asking you is, though, if you are using own price the way Dr. Sen did, what you are saying isn't significant, is it?

MR. ROTHMAN:  I'm sorry.  First of all, Dr. Sen, as far as I know, didn't do the elasticity calculations.  He estimated the elasticities.  Is that correct?

MR. CROCKER:  Well, I am asking questions, and...

[Laughter.]

MR. CROCKER:  And that is our role here.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chair, when one asks questions, one tries to be accurate.  He is just correcting the question.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, I didn't think I was inaccurate, but I may have phrased it incorrectly.

Go ahead.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The witness may want to simply make that assumption and answer accordingly.

MR. ROTHMAN:  There was no computation of load shifting, no use of the elasticities in either of Dr. Sen's reports.

I mean, I can state that factually.

MR. CROCKER:  But answer my question.

What I am suggesting to you is using Dr. Sen's -- in Dr. Sen's approach, assuming a zero shadow price would result, as he -- using the approach he did, doing what he did, using a zero shadow price, I say to you again, would result in an understatement of the change in price in his analysis.  Don't you think?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Let me say again, the reports that we have from Dr. Sen do not apply to elasticities.  The elasticity applications are from reports filed by AMPCO.

So let's say -- rephrase your question perhaps and say, using the approach used by AMPCO, would the -- having a shadow price, a base shadow price for transmission of zero, overstate or understate the amount of load shifting relative to using a non-zero positive, existing base price for transmission.

Is that your question?

MR. CROCKER:  I will accept your rephrasing of my question.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Okay.  The answer is the same as the answer I gave, that the calculation of the load shift depends on, in the case of AMPCO's calculation, the difference between the new price and the old price.  The greater the difference, the greater the shift.

If you subtract zero from the new price, you have a greater difference than if you subtract something non-zero from the old price.  And, therefore, you would tend to have a higher estimate of the amount of load shifting and would overstate it.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I will take that as your answer, and Dr. Sen will respond when -- because I don't think he agrees, but he will respond when he gives his evidence.

Let's go over the page again.  No, let's not.  Let's stick with page 19 under 2.3.3, "Impact on Energy Prices".  Are you with me?

You say a couple of things here.  I am looking for my quotation.  I apologize.  You say in the middle of that paragraph:
~"...Power Advisory believes that an econometric model does not properly analyze the impact of relatively small changes in total demand."

And I think you talked about that a little bit yesterday.  That is what you say; correct?  I am reading that correctly?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If I could ask you to turn to interrogatory 36(c), and I am not sure where that is.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You can find it in the record, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  And it is at tab 8.  Okay?  Are you with me?  Do you have the interrogatory?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You say, in answer to number (a), it is not your opinion that no economic model can be used to assess the impact of small changes in demand.  So, in fact, you say that it can be done; correct?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  We said an econometric model can be used.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  However, you said in paragraph 2.3.3 that it couldn't?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I take his later answer.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Excuse me.  We said in paragraph 2.3.3 that:
"...an econometric model does not properly analyze the impact of relatively small changes in total demand."

I say, in the response -- in the answer to your interrogatory that -- you asked:
"Confirm that it is a consultant's opinion that no econometric model can be used to assess the impacts of small changes in demand."

I say, if the supply curve is very smooth throughout its range, then, yes, you could use an econometric model to analyze the impact of relatively small changes, but that is a -- most electricity supply curves are not so smooth.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, we will get to that.  Okay, I got your answer.  I will come back to it later.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Also I add:
"The changes in demand are large enough to cause movement along the supply curve.  An econometric model can be effective."

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, that's fine.  I'm happy.

If we go back to page 19, if we go to 2.3.4, you talk about two sources of shifting load.  One has to do with customer behaviour and the other one has to do with change in methodology; correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  That's two sources of transmission cost shifts; that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Can I ask you, please, to go to interrogatory -- AMPCO's interrogatory 33(b)?  It is tab 7 of the compendium.

MR. YARDLEY:  I have that.

MR. CROCKER:  I apologize.  That is not the right interrogatory.  I will come back to it.  I apologize.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Crocker, would it be convenient to take the break now to allow you to organize your cross-examination from this stage forward, or are you comfortable going ahead at this stage?

MR. CROCKER:  I am comfortable going ahead.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  What you are talking about in terms of methodology is the elimination of the ratchet; correct; that is, the 85 percent or the 50 percent limitation on the benefit that a customer can now achieve in Ontario for moving production off coincident peak?

MR. YARDLEY:  Well, not in section 2.3.4.  We are just merely talking about the transmission cost shifting, but in general this entire chapter attempts to, first of all, faithfully represent AMPCO's proposal, identify comments by reviewing materials filed in 2008-0072 made by other parties in that proposal, because that was an interest, I think, of the Board, and we're in the section now where we attempt to provide our own comments on issues that were identified either by AMPCO or by one of the parties.

So the demand ratchet was -- there were a comment or two on the demand ratchet, I think by VECC, responding to AMPCO.  And so we have 2.3.5, if that is where you are directing your question, briefly discusses the demand ratchet.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Your comment on the ratchet is -- that I am interested in is set out in that paragraph toward the bottom of the page, and you say, second last paragraph:

"The ratchet captures the fact that the transmission system has been built over time based on the need to meet system peaks, but also to meet the peaks of large customers regardless of when those peaks occur."

Correct?

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  That's your description of the ratchet?

I suggest, with respect, that the ratchet reflects the description I gave to you earlier of industrials subsidizing the system.  The limitation on a 15 percent reduction would limit any -- the value of any reduction that an industrial can now have in Ontario for shifting off peak.

You would agree with that?

MR. YARDLEY:  I wouldn't agree with the subsidization aspect of the question, because I have no idea if there is subsidization that is occurring or not.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  I understand.

But would you agree with the second part of my question to you?

MR. YARDLEY:  I would agree that to the extent an industrial customer reduces demand on peak, the impact of that on the charges that they pay would be limited by the existence of the ratchet.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I will discuss with you, I think a little bit later, the significance of local peaks versus system peaks and how that affects the ratchet, in a bit.

Are you supporting the maintaining of the ratchet?

MR. YARDLEY:  No.  We analyzed AMPCO's proposal.  We didn't make -- really render an opinion on whether the current methodology was the best methodology.

We didn't study the ratchet in any great detail, only as it related to comments made by the parties.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And if I could just make a general comment, which I will also make later, I suggest in many respects you didn't provide an alternative to your criticism of how the AMPCO proposal was done, did you?

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.  I would -- the way I would phrase that is that we weren't asked to come in and say:  Okay, based on the facts and circumstance circumstances, what is the appropriate methodology to apply to network transmission costs?

We didn't start with a blank piece of paper, look not only at the AMPCO proposal, but the history of other proposals that may have been made, how the current proposal came into being.

We merely focussed on whether or not -- on the AMPCO High 5 proposal.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I am going to skip ahead and come back to what we were talking about just before, after the lunch break.

I want to go ahead and talk to you about what you have done in chapter 3 on shadow price, and...

Mr. Chair, can we take our break at this point?  Let me organize my thoughts a little bit more clearly?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, we can.  The Board will break.  The Panel has a commitment.  I am not sure it is going to take a great deal of time over the break, but let's break until 1:30.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:15 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:43 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.  Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, I intend to be more focussed and pointed --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  -- this afternoon, and hopefully briefer.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Can I take you guys back to 2.3.4?  I want to combine two areas of discussion that we had this morning.

If I can take you to the second last paragraph on page 19 of the report, and you say AMPCO only took one factor into consideration, when there are two, with respect to cost shifting.  One of them was customer shifting load from peak to off peak.  The other was from simply changing the charge determinant methodology.

Remember my unfocussed questions to you about that?  You don't have to comment about the lack of focus of the questions.

Do you remember my questions to you about that?

MR. YARDLEY:  This strikes me as a particularly -- a fairly new area, but I am prepared for any question you have.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  And as I say, I am not necessarily directing my questions to you.

I thought when I asked you the question -- and you sort of refocussed me, but I am going to ask it again.

The methodology that you are talking about is what is euphemistically called here the ratchet, correct, the limitation to 15 percent that a customer can save?

MR. YARDLEY:  Well, the ratchet is only one piece of it, because the tables contained -- that relate to this section refer to a comparison of the impacts under the current methodology, which includes a ratchet as part of it, to the High 5 methodology.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, if it is not the ratchet that you are talking about here, what are you talking about?

MR. YARDLEY:  Well, AMPCO calculated the cost shifting by calculating the reduction in contribution of industrial customers that had shifted load, and assuming that it is a zero sum game, those costs would have to be absorbed by some other customer, by the LDCs, the power producers and so forth.  So that is one element.  And --


MR. CROCKER:  And that's what --


MR. YARDLEY:  -- we have repeated what AMPCO has done and used the same methodology, and applied it to the new estimates of load shifts, if you will.

So there is complete agreement there, but then we are pointing out in this section that there is -- there would be other cost shifting impacts, as well, and that would be from the change in methodology.  If you were to apply the High 5 methodology, then you would really have to redo the determinants for every one, and that would have cost shifting implications, as well.

So that is what we are discussing in this particular section.

MR. CROCKER:  What charge determinants for everybody else are you talking about, is my concern here?

MR. YARDLEY:  Okay.  Perhaps it would be easier just to go to table 14 and 15, which were updated.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. YARDLEY:  They were in the -- I think it was BOMA schedule 36.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. YARDLEY:  Page 3 of 5.

MR. CROCKER:  I don't have that, but I'm sure Mr. Thiessen can put it up.

MR. ROGERS:  Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 36.

MR. YARDLEY:  That's correct.

MR. YARDLEY:  So focussing on table 14 --


MR. CROCKER:  Mm-hm.

MR. YARDLEY:  -- this schedule examines the impact of a change in methodology, which is the impact that we have asserted was not included in the original AMPCO analysis.

MR. CROCKER:  Mm-hm.

MR. YARDLEY:  And there are three sections to the table.  The first one is labelled "Current Methodology".  The second is the High 5 methodology, and the third merely calculates the difference in cost responsibility.

So in terms of the current methodology, that would be what the charge determinants would be for each of these three categories of customers based on application of the current methodology, which includes the CP and the impact of the ratchet, to the extent it had an effect.

So in this case, this is based solely on Hydro One data.  Hydro One provided us with the determinants for 2009 based on the current methodology.  So in some cases, it would be a CP for a particular delivery point.  In other cases, it would -- the ratchet would have had an influence.

And then we've compared those results.  So, for example, under those results, the directs are assigned responsibility for $66 million, 66.0.

And then in the second column, with Hydro One's assistance in data, we determined what the determinants would be based on the High 5 methodology.  And in that case, the cost responsibility from the directs declines from the $66.0 million to 51.7, or a decline of 14.2 million.

So this top part, table 14, focusses merely on the impact of the change in methodology, which...

MR. CROCKER:  I understand.  So the methodology changes the methodology from current to AMPCO -- to High 5?

MR. YARDLEY:  Current to the High 5.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Okay, I understand.  I thought -- okay.  I thought -- it doesn't matter what I thought.

All right.  Let's apply the ratchet issue to the comment that you made about the shadow price being zero, okay?

In interrogatory -- AMPCO's interrogatory 33, so tab 7 of the compendium, we asked you to compute for us customers that would be at the shadow price.  Do you see that?

MR. YARDLEY:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And I don't need to go through the numbers with you, but a substantial number of these customers are at the shadow price.  You would agree with that, wouldn't you?  I'm sorry, I'm sorry.  When I say "shadow price", I didn't mean that.  I meant at the ratchet.

MR. YARDLEY:  You are referring to the table?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  If you want to give the numbers, you can give them.

MR. YARDLEY:  Certainly a substantial number.  I mean, it is a significant number.

MR. CROCKER:  Right, right.

I am suggesting to you that it is reasonable to take those customers and give them a shadow price of zero for the purposes of -- and that's what I suggest Dr. Sen did in his analysis.  Do you agree with that?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Again, I would have to go back and look up the original report.  I don't remember what assumption AMPCO made, but I think that is correct.

I think in the -- in AMPCO's calculation, they assumed a current transmission shadow price of zero.

 And I don't remember exactly what the first part of your question was, I'm sorry, but as near as I can tell, AMPCO's calculation, as far as I remember, did assume a shadow price of zero.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  What I am suggesting -- the question was:  It is a fair assumption to assume that all of the customers that we talked about, the substantial number of customers listed on that chart, which are at the ratchet, are at a shadow price of zero?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. ROTHMAN:  What our analysis suggests and the number that we used is that the existing transmission customers pay a transmission price.  It is a transmission price -- the transmission price we computed is an eight-and-a-half-dollars-per-megawatt, and that's the price that we used in our calculation of the amount of load that would be shifted.

I am not quite sure what we should say is the shadow price for an existing transmission customer.  And so I am not sure I can answer, agree or disagree with your assertion that their shadow price is zero.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I will take that as your answer.

Let's move forward, then, to the elasticity issue.  And I want to understand the difference in your philosophy and Dr. Sen's philosophy on behalf of AMPCO.

You are suggesting an elasticity of substitution, and he used same elasticity with a lag price; correct?

MR. ROTHMAN:  He used -- he has an own-price elasticity estimate.

MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry.  That's what I meant, an own-price elasticity with a lag price.

MR. ROTHMAN:  And he also has a lag price variable for which he computes a -- because he computes it as a double-log function, I guess you can call that also an elasticity.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Elasticity of substitution compares a relative change in demand with a relative change in price; correct?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Dr. Sen's method describes an absolute change in demand to an absolute change in price.

 I am not saying one is better than the other.  I am just trying to understand what -- the differences in the two approaches.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  Let me refer you to page 35 of the original report, of our report.  And I think that might help us.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can I ask that you answer the question, and then qualify it any way you want?  I just don't want the question to get lost.

MR. ROTHMAN:  I am trying to answer the question by referring you to page 34.

Let me just check to be sure that I've got the question right.

Your question was that the elasticity of substitution relates to ratios of price and quantity, and the usual elasticity, the own-price elasticity relates to absolute changes.

 If you look at the formula on page 35, you will see that the formula for the own-price elasticity is the percentage change in demand, divided by the percentage change in price.  That could also be written as the change -- the absolute change in quantity.  If you are doing it in finite form, it can be written as the change in quantity over the change in price, divided by the quantity over the price, or the change in quantity over the change in price, times the price over the quantity.

So that it looks at the ratio.  Again, it is a ratio, but in this case it is a ratio of the changes.  It is the percentage change in demand over the percentage change in price.

MR. CROCKER:  I once again will take that as your answer.  You have no idea what culture shock this is to me.

[Laughter.]

MR. CROCKER:  I took English, French, Greek, German, history and geography, and in any event...

[Laughter.]

 Thank you.  I will take that, and Dr. Sen will respond in his evidence.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Mr. Crocker, again, let me go back to that and maybe I can help you again, which is that if you take the second formula that I gave you, the elasticity can be defined as the delta in the quantity -- that is the increase in quantity, or decrease -- divided by the increase or decrease in price.

 So that that is looking at those absolute changes, the change levels.  And it looks at them not as absolutes, of course.  Those are signed.

And the reason that an own-price elasticity is usually negative is that the change in quantity and the change in price are in opposite directions.  If the price increases, the quantity typically decreases for a normal demand curve.  If the price decreases, the quantity increases for a normal demand curve.

 And so the elasticity is going to come out negative, because the other term in that -- which is price over quantity -- is defined always as positive.  You always have positive prices and positive quantities, in most cases.

In the Ontario electricity market, let's say you have negative prices, but we are not going to get into that.

[Laughter.]

MR. ROTHMAN:  The own-price elasticity will, for most goods, in most cases, come out as positive -- as negative, sorry.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. ROTHMAN:  I hope that helps a bit.

MR. CROCKER:  It does, actually, surprisingly.  Even me, it helps, is what I am surprised about.

Okay.  Just continuing the thought, and to follow up on something you said yesterday, elasticity of substitution can only be done with individual firm numbers; that's correct, isn't it?

MR. ROTHMAN:  I thought about that a little more over -- last night, and I am not -- that's not...

In order to do an elasticity -- estimate elasticities and substitution, you need information on the production function inputs, input prices.

You can get that for an industry in aggregate, and I think it would be possible to do, to estimate elasticities of substitution for a group of similar firms in a similar industry.

And we did, as you know from our report, we did look at the literature and look at the estimates of elasticities and substitution.  And as I recall, though, the empirical estimates that I found typically did have individual firm data for the estimation of elasticities and substitution.

So I hadn't thought about the issue long enough, frankly, to be able to say a firm:  No, you can't possibly do it without individual firm data.

But I think I can say that the estimates I found typically did have individual firm data.

MR. CROCKER:  And you did say yesterday that that firm data is -- would not have been available?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Again, I don't know.  Ontario -- sorry, Hydro One, I suspect, has such data.

Whether they could be used in that kind of empirical study, I don't know.  They certainly could not be used -- almost undoubtedly, I would think -- could not be used by a researcher outside of Hydro One.

 MR. CROCKER:  Right.  A third party couldn't -- wouldn't have access to that data?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Not without permission from each of the companies that provided the data, which would, I think, be pretty difficult to get.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  Okay.

MR. ROTHMAN:  And I can't speak for Hydro One.  I don't know, but that is my guess as to what the conditions would be.

MR. CROCKER:  You commented on that aspect of the AMPCO study in your report, and I take that comment -- I took that comment as a criticism; that is, that it only used aggregated data.  Am I wrong in doing that?

MR. ROTHMAN:  It wasn't a criticism, it was a statement.

MR. CROCKER:  And then you would agree with me, I think, that the study that you -- the piece of your report between pages 40 and 50 are all based on aggregated data, I believe.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. ROTHMAN:  I think that is not true.  If I look at the table on page 45, for example, it has -- those are estimates of elasticity of substitution, and our previous conversation suggested that estimates of elasticities of substitution required disaggregated data.

Again, I am sorry, my memory is -- on these things isn't perhaps as sharp as might be, and I would need to go back and look at these studies again to be sure which of them used aggregated and which used individual firm data.  But I recall many -- I know that several of these studies did have disaggregated individual firm data.

MR. CROCKER:  Just out of interest, and I don't think this is particularly germane, but the data that you have set out on page 45, that is not Ontario data, is it?  Not Ontario data?

MR. ROTHMAN:  No.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Then you say with respect to cost shift -- I'm sorry, transmission cost shifting on page 51, and I am reading the last sentence in the second paragraph --


MR. ROTHMAN:  Sorry.  Excuse me, can I just go back one more step, and that is that the elasticities of substitution that are estimated for Ontario on table 47, those central estimates are disaggregated data.  Similarly, table 5 on page 42, which comes from the Cheng and Mountain study, used disaggregated firm level data, and those are Ontario data.

MR. CROCKER:  And how old is that data?  I think you mentioned it this morning.

MR. ROTHMAN:  It is in the table.  Those are 1991 data.  The estimates were done in '92, I think, and the -- it was published in '93.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And you would agree that there isn't or there wasn't available to you, in any event, disaggregated data that was more current than that?  You didn't use any disaggregated -- I mean in Ontario, at least, you didn't use any disaggregated data that was more current than that?

MR. ROTHMAN:  We weren't asked to and did not do any empirical estimates ourselves.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Well, that is another matter.  All right.

Let's go back to the page 51.  And, once again, this is further to an area that you covered with my friend, Mr. Buonaguro, earlier today, to some extent.

You say:
"If a significant change in rate design is proposed, a major consideration taken into account by regulators is the magnitude of the impact on customers.  A regulator may decide to reject a proposal on these grounds, or implement it over a number of years if it concludes that the change is otherwise beneficial."

That is what you have said, isn't it?

MR. ROTHMAN:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You then say on page 55, and you broadened it this morning with, Mr. Buonaguro -- in fact, using the words you yourself use on page 51 that I just read, you say that the magnitude of the impact is insignificant.  Agreed?

MR. ROGERS:  Can Mr. Crocker, Mr. Chair, help me where on the page I can find this?

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  We are looking...

MR. YARDLEY:  I don't think that word appears on the page, and I think the --


MR. CROCKER:  No, I was paraphrasing.

MR. YARDLEY:  If I recall my words from this morning, I characterized it as relatively modest, that the increase for -- we were talking about general service customers at that point.  If it was analogous to the impact on residential customers, you would characterize it as relatively modest.

That doesn't mean it would be dismissed by a regulator trying to decide, in their view, how that -- whether or not to implement the increase or not.  They may look at other factors, as well.

MR. CROCKER:  And, Mr. Rogers, the paragraph is the middle paragraph on page 55 versus the middle paragraph on page 51.  Those are the two paragraphs.

Okay, I want to go on, then, and talk about commodity price impacts and understand what your comments were earlier with respect to that and the -- your figure 4 on page 59, okay?

Now, I think -- and I can't remember who said this earlier today, that if the supply curve were relatively smooth, as Dr. Sen has set out, then his conclusions with respect to this issue were valid.  Is that a reasonable paraphrase of -- I can't remember who said that this morning.

MR. ROTHMAN:  I suspect I said it, and I don't think I said that Dr. Sen's conclusions were reasonably valid.

MR. CROCKER:  What did you say, then?

MR. ROTHMAN:  I said that if the supply curve is smooth and if the size of the change is large enough, then you could use an econometrically estimated equation to estimate a load shift.

MR. CROCKER:  And that's what Dr. Sen did, or -- whether he was right or wrong, that is what he did?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Again, from the documents that I have seen in this hearing, I did not see Dr. Sen make any estimate -- any estimates of load shifts.

The estimates of load shifts are in the AMPCO submissions, and that appears to be what AMPCO did, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  And the supply curve that AMPCO proposed, I suggest, was to show price changes as a result of demand.  You would agree with that, wouldn't you?  That's what they were trying to show.  That's what we were trying to show.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  I think that that is a... Where did it go?

MR. CROCKER:  I want to ask you the next question, but I don't until you have a chance to answer the last one fully.

Are you okay with your answer?  Because I don't want Mr. Rogers jumping me on me for not letting you answer the question.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  Your figure on page 12, your figure 1 on page 12 has a curve that plots the total price -- HOEP plus global adjustment -- against AQEW -- average quantity of energy withdrawn -- which is a reasonable measure of the total demand in Ontario.

MR. CROCKER:  And just so that the Board is clear, that is the material that was filed -- that you were referring to was filed at the previous hearing; correct?

MR. ROTHMAN:  No.  This is the material -- this is from AMPCO's submission on August 26th, 2010.  Just looking at your compendium, I am at tab 12 -- the pages aren't well reproduced -- but it's tab 12, page 12.

MR. CROCKER:  There are two page 12s, just so the Board understands, because I didn't.

It's -- one was AMPCO's evidence and --


MR. ROTHMAN:  It's tab 12, page 12 of AMPCO's evidence.  That's right.

MR. CROCKER:  Right, okay.  All right.

Your figure 4, I suggest, displays something else -- and I don't know whether I am fair or not, but I am sure you will tell me if I am not -- that that is more of a supply cost curve.

MR. ROTHMAN:  Yes.  That is a curve that has a supply stack.  That figure has a supply stack in it, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  And this is a -- I don't know whether I -- once again, you will tell me if I am not being fair, but that is a snapshot in time, isn't it?

MR. DALTON:  Exactly.  That would change throughout the year, depending, in terms of what generation resources are available.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. DALTON:  And what are the actual fuel costs of the different generators.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And this could be averaged over time, I suppose.  And if it were averaged over time, it would be smoother, would it not, than it looks in figure 4?

MR. DALTON:  I think that you would still expect that there are going to be these different jumps in the supply curve, based on the cost characteristics of different generating units.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  You are not here attempting to display what Dr. Sen displayed; that is, a price change based on demand?

You are showing something else here, aren't you?

MR. DALTON:  That's correct.  I mean, what we're showing here is essentially our representation of the --Ontario's electricity supply curve, and I think that the point to make is that if you look at -- and because this is a snapshot in time, I think the assumption here is that all generation units are available.

So this is really kind of not an operating condition that we would expect would happen in real time.

So if you look at -- over 30,000 megawatts, there is a very significant jump in terms of price, or the cost of generating units.

And I think our criticism with respect to the analysis that was performed by Dr. Sen was that when he specified his equation, he looked at a range of historical data, and where Ontario would be during that period, because we didn't have all of the supply additions that we have had in the last several years.

You probably, when specifying that equation, were capturing some of these price conditions that are reflected in the graph, when demand was in excess of 30,000 megawatts.  I am not saying that those were the actual conditions that would occur, but the prices that would be embedded in his analysis would reflect those type of market conditions.

And that was essentially our criticism, was that, you know, you need to look at the actual conditions, you know, on a prospective basis, based on a more reasonable representation of where the market's going to be.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I understand.  Thank you.

I want to take you -- let me just go and find the interrogatory I am looking for.

In section -– paragraph -- I'm sorry, chapter 6 of your study, you talk about -- you entitle it:  "Potential impact of the High 5 proposal on transmission deferral."

And on page 72 and 73 of your report, you talk about congestion.  I'm starting at the last partial sentence on page 72, going on to 73.  You say:

“...therefore, reductions in load in on-peak periods can exacerbate congestion rather than alleviate it."

Do you see that point?

MR. DALTON:  I see the point, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  In Interrogatory 68, AMPCO Interrogatory 68 -- and it is not in the compendium. I don't believe.  It isn't.

That part of your report is noted, and you are asked to provide specific examples where this has occurred, including supporting data and references.  And then you were also asked in (b) to provide an estimate of the congestion costs, et cetera.

And your answer is:
"This statement is based on discussions that Power Advisory staff had with Hydro One transmission planners.  We don't have specific examples."

And then your (b) answer is you have not performed such analysis.

Are you with me?

MR. DALTON:  I follow you.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  On what...

And there are a number of comments you make in the report, based on similar types of anecdotal information.  You would agree with me that is the case, isn't it?

I don't want to spend the time nor think it is necessary to go through it.  If you agree with me, I won't.  If you don't, I will.

[Laughter.]

It is not a threat.  I am just trying to save some time.

MR. ROGERS:  Fair enough.

MR. DALTON:  We do in -- one or two places in the report make reference to discussions with Hydro One transmission planners.

Essentially, chapter 6 was written largely by myself, and it was reviewed by Hydro One transmission planners, who basically commented on it.  And those comments are referenced in the report.

I myself am not a transmission system planner.  So what we did is we did the analysis in terms of what were the potential load shifts that could occur, and we said, you know, our analysis indicates that the load shift could be roughly 100 megawatts to 150 megawatts.

You know, based on their experience as transmission system planners, is a load shift of that magnitude, spread across Ontario, likely to be sufficient to defer any transmission investment?

So that is the type of, you know, discussion that we had with them.  We were relying on their expertise.

MR. CROCKER:  And, once again, you would agree with me that there are -- you've made statements like that throughout, at various different points in the report, based on anecdotal information rather than statistical analysis?  You agree with me?

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, I hesitate to interrupt, but I don't think it is fair to characterize considered advise from system planners as anecdotal evidence.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, we can argue that.  I won't debate that with you.

My question is:  Tell me how you think it is helpful to the Board to criticize the AMPCO report based on that kind of information?  Just tell me what you -- how you think you were helping the Board?

MR. DALTON:  I don't think here we are criticizing the AMPCO report.  We have been asked to -- one of the issues we were asked to look at is to what degree could the High 5 proposal defer transmission investment.  And the cornerstone of that analysis was to establish:  What was the magnitude of load shift?

We had that information.  In chapter 6, there is additional analysis which is based on the actual investments being proposed by Hydro One in this case.  And we looked at those investments and offered our opinion in terms of the degree to which those investments would be deferred by the High 5 proposal.

And that is, you know, quantitative analysis.  We came up with a, you know, total development capital budget of $1.8 billion, and our review of the information put forward by Hydro One suggested that roughly $88 million of that investment would be able to be deferred, if a proposal such as AMPCO's High 5 were implemented.

That is the type of, you know, quantitative analysis that was performed here.

Alternatively, you would need to run more sophisticated tools than we had available to us based on the budget that we are working with here.  So we thought it was appropriate and prudent to have relied on the professional expertise of Hydro One transmission system planners, as I've just said.

MR. CROCKER:  I just have one more question or area of questions.  I would like you to go back, please, to Exhibit... I'm sorry, I didn't mark the exhibit number down, the explanatory note on the environmental bill of rights registry concerning the global adjustment, the changes -- proposed changes to the global adjustment.

MS. HELT:  That is Exhibit K8.1.

MR. CROCKER:  Thanks.

I just want to make sure we are clear as to how broadly this would apply, and the first bullet indicates that it applies to class A consumers, which is defined as
-- this just has to do with Mr. Rothman's understanding of how broadly it applies.  I am just going to suggest it applies much more broadly than he has suggested, that it applies to all consumers with an average monthly peak demand in excess of 5 megawatts; correct?

MR. ROTHMAN:  Well, it does go further to say:

"...over specified periods and is registered as a market participant with the IESO or a customer of a distributor in Ontario for the entire reporting period."

So, for example, if a customer should have an average demand over -- of over 5 megawatts for half of the reporting period, but is not registered as a customer, then it would not apply.

MR. CROCKER:  I suppose it is not particularly productive of us to debate what the government is going to say in a regulation which neither of us have in front of us.  So let's wait and see what the regulation says.

I do know that you weren't asked to -- as you indicated at the outset of this examination, to provide any information with respect to implementation, but I would like to ask you a question, and, if you are uncomfortable answering, you will let me know, I am sure.

I would take it that implementing the changes to the global adjustment being described in this information piece wouldn't be any different for the IESO as implementing the High 5 proposal.

Do you have any information with respect to that?

MR. DALTON:  We are not experts in terms of the IESO's information systems.  We really can't answer that.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you, panel.  I have no further questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  Mr. Rogers, do you have any redirect?

MR. ROGERS:  No, sir.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Thank you very much, panel.  You have been very helpful.  You are excused.  And we will proceed to -- I guess perhaps we will take our break, and then swear in the next panel.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  We will reconvene in 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 2:30 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:51 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.  We have a panel to swear, Mr. Rogers?  And some swearing to do too.

[Laughter.]

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir, we do.  On both counts.


MR. ROGERS:  My apologies.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Not at all.

MR. ROGERS:  We have here kind of an abbreviated panel 6, Mr. Sommerville.

And have the witnesses been sworn?  Could they be sworn, please, Mr. Andre and Mr. -- Henry Andre and Mr. Stanley But?
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC - PANEL 6:  LOAD FORECAST, COST ALLOCATION AND RATE DESIGN, EXPORT TRANSMISSION SERVICE

Henry Andre, Sworn

Stanley But, Sworn
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Mr. But, could I start with you, please?

MR. BUT:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae has been filed as Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, page 2 in these proceedings.  Is that an accurate reflection of your experience, sir?

MR. BUT:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand that you are a graduate of York University with a bachelor of arts in economics, as well as a master of business administration?

MR. BUT:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You also have completed course requirements for your master of arts in economics at that university?

MR. BUT:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae reveals that you have been employed with the Hydro family of companies, I will call it, for many years?

MR. BUT:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And I know you have appeared before the Board on a number of occasions to give testimony on load forecasting.

MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.  I have been coming in almost on an annual basis.

MR. ROGERS:  You are presently the manager of transmission -- no, no.  I'm sorry.

You've presently manager of economics and load forecasting with the Applicant?

MR. BUT:  Yes, I am.

MR. ROGERS:  Can you confirm for us that the evidence filed in this proceeding dealing with your topic, that is load forecasting and economics, is, so far as you are aware, an accurate reflection of the company's affairs?

MR. BUT:  Yes, they are.

MR. ROGERS:  And I understand that you will be responding today to questions dealing with load forecast and economics indicators, and so on?

MR. BUT:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Andre, you also have appeared before this Board on previous occasions, I believe?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I have.  Once before.

MR. ROGERS:  You are an engineer, having graduated from the University of Toronto in 1985?

MR. ANDRE:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you have your master's degree in applied science, as well, from that same institution?

MR. ANDRE:  I do.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae is found at page 1 of 16 of the schedule.

Is it accurate and up-to-date so far as you are aware?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  It sets out your qualification, and I won't belabour it, but I understand that you have recently taken a position of manager, transmission and distribution pricing, regulatory affairs, corporate and regulatory affairs?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.  Although my previous appearance was as the manager of rates for that same group.

MR. ROGERS:  That's right.  You appeared -- your other appearance I believe was in a transmission case dealing with rate-related topics, just as you are today?

MR. ANDRE:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Can you confirm for us, sir, that the evidence dealing with rate design contained in the application for which you are responsible was prepared under your direction and supervision and is accurate, so far as you are aware?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Could I -- I have one question I thought I would ask to try to just to speed things up here a little bit.

Mr. Andre, I don't know, I think you may have been listening or in the hearing room when questions were asked on behalf of Mr. Thompson earlier today?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  One of the questions dealt with the likely bill impact on manufacturers who acquire their electricity from LDCs under the auspices of general service rates, if AMPCO's High 5 proposal is implemented.

And I think the previous panel was asked whether total bills of such manufacturers are likely to go up, down or remain about the same.

Are you able to help us with that?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  Yes, I can.

I was listening in, and I think the previous panel indicated that they would go up modestly.

And I can confirm that they would go up by slightly less than the $2.40 cents per year that is in the Power Advisory report at page 55.  That was done for residential customers.

General service customers, the transmission portion of the bill is slightly less than seven and a half.  It varies.  It is around six and a half percent, so the impact would be slightly less than is shown there for residential customers.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I thought I would get that upfront.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very helpful.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Mr. Buonaguro?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Good afternoon, panel.  I have questions in three of the categories that the panel is responsible for today, load forecast, cost allocation, cost allocation rate design.

And then I do have questions that we have labelled "High 5-related questions", but they are questions that would go to this panel.

I am going to start with load forecast questions.

I think I am going to start small, but start nonetheless.

And I will be pulling up the references on the screen so you can see what I am looking at.  Then obviously if you want to look at your material, you will have time to do that.

So I am going to start with Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 3, page 19.  So I have pulled it up on the screen here.

And here you set out the load forecast before and after adjusting for the impact of CDM and embedded generation.  Do you see that?

MR. BUT:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And on page 3 of the same exhibit -- so if you go back to page 3, and I won't go back -- but you describe how the load forecast was prepared in September of 2009, and then adjusted for actual load in 2009 and revised CDM impacts?

MR. BUT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if you keep your finger on this, I am going to -- I can switch back and forth when we need to, but I am going to go back to this -- but I am going to be comparing it to Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 11 and the response to part (a).

And here we asked about the adjustment for the actual 2009 load, and in point I to part (a)... sorry.

Point (i), you say here:

"Adjustments attributed to using the 2009 actual load remain the same throughout the 2009-2012 period.  The adjustment for Ontario Demand is 50 MW for all the years from 2009 to 2012."

Do you see that?

MR. BUT:  Yes, I saw that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what we took that to mean is that if we compared this table to the previous table I showed you in the evidence, you would be able to track the 50-megawatt reduction?

MR. BUT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I have highlighted here for 2009, 22,794.

MR. BUT:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay?  And if I go back and I highlighted the equivalent part of the table, I see 22,844 from Exhibit A-12-3.

MR. BUT:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can see the 50-megawatt reduction for 2009, so so far, we are good.

MR. BUT:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But then when we -- but then when we do the same comparison for 2011 and 2012, the simple question is we don't see the 50-megawatt reduction.  We see identical values.

And I guess I can show you.  So if we start here, we've got -- we will go right to 2012.  We see 23,401 on this table, your original evidence?

MR. BUT:  Right.  2012 numbers are exactly the same as the number we used in 2009.  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So the adjusted one still 23,401.  And the simple question is:  Whereas in part of the evidence you talk about the 50-megawatt reduction applying across the period -- you can see it on the screen, at (a)(i), you talk about the 50 megawatts being adjusted throughout the period, we don't actually see the adjustment any more in 2011 and 2012.

And the simple question is:  Why not?

MR. BUT:  The adjustment was taken into consideration of the economic impact, CDM and others.

So when -- but we also determined that the forecast for 2012 is appropriate, and that is the reason why, in terms of reviewing the -- all the factors, we decided to keep the 2012 the same.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I just want to be clear.  Are you saying that there was a 50-megawatt adjustment to 2011 and 2012, but there were offsetting factors?

MR. BUT:  Exactly.  Because the -- that is the net number.  That take in consideration of the economic factors, take in consideration the adjustment of CDM, as well as the embedded generation, but we are confident that the end number for 2012 that we made in September 2009 was appropriate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And, again, you said "yes" to the first part.  The other option or the other way I could have understood it was you would have made a 50-megawatt reduction except that, for independent reasons, the forecast you had for 2011 and 2012 was okay, so you didn't make an adjustment.

But you're saying that is not what happened.  There was actual offsetting increases that offset almost exactly the 50 megawatts?

MR. BUT:  Obviously, when we revised the forecast in May 2010, the major revision that we made was shifting 400 megawatts of CDM from 2010 to years 2011 and 2012.

The adjustment with respect to using the actual for 2009 is a very small quantity and, in this case, only 50 megawatts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. BUT:  That's the reason why, when you look at the latest economic profile and we look at the information, we believe that the information we used in September 2009 is still valid, and that's the reason why for the latest update we made in May 2010, we left the forecast the same as September 2009.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I don't want to belabour the point.  It is just a matter of how you are doing it.  It sounds to me like what you are doing is, if you were strictly applying the same methodology throughout, you would have made a 50-megawatt reduction, and there would have been specific offsets that eliminated the 50-megawatt reduction when you came to the figure, but it actually sounds like it is something different.

It sounds like you looked at the 2011 and 2012 forecast and said, Well, because of how we arrived at that forecast, we are okay; we don't have to make this specific reduction.  It sounds more like the latter, not the former.

MR. BUT:  But, implicitly, the actual of 2009 was taken into consideration for the entire period.  That is the reason why we said the 50 megawatts was reflected in the analysis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you very much.

I am going to take you to VECC number 11, so that is I-4-11, part (d).  I just lost my cursor.  And this is talking about CDM savings.

And here you set out, if you look at the -- sorry, the references are a little off.  In the table as part (d), you have "CDM Impact By Type of Program (2008-2012)".  Do you see that?

MR. BUT:  Yes, I saw that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will make it bigger.  Is it fair to say that for each program type, you will have a different impact on the average monthly billing determinants?  So, for example, a similar impact for customer base generation is likely to be seen in all months of the year as it would at the time of system peak, whereas other programs which impact on the summer peak may not have the same impact on the winter months?  Is that generally a fair statement?

MR. BUT:  That's correct.  This analysis, by the way, is information we use from the OPA IPSP, and you have the reference over there.  This is a table -- basically, the numbers that we used from table 4 from EB-2007-0707, Exhibit D, tab 4, schedule 1, that we are using.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, in part (f) of this same interrogatory response, we asked how the differences in impact of different program types are factored into the determination of the impact of CDM on the average monthly billing determinants, and this is the response.

We weren't very clear about it.  I will read the response, since I mentioned it:
"The maximum CDM impact was translated into monthly peak using consistent data provided by the OPA consistent with the 2007 IPSP. All data points are measured at the generation level, so no further adjustments are required.  The average of 12 monthly peak was then calculated and used in the forecast."

And we didn't quite understand the answer, so I am going to ask you this.  Do you separately estimate the impact of the megawatts attributed to each CDM program type on the monthly billing determinants for transmission?

MR. BUT:  We got the maximum CDM impact, as well as the monthly CDM impact, provided to us by the OPA.  And we basically used that data set and applied that to our analysis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it done by program type?

MR. BUT:  It is not by...  I think the information may be by program type, subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So can you provide that information broken down by program type?

MR. BUT:  For what information?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, can you break down the 2011 monthly billing impact by program type?

MR. BUT:  That information was provided by us -- by the OPA, and so that is not analysis done by the Hydro One staff.  I'm concerned whether we could release information shared with us by the OPA.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  On what basis?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, let me do this.  Can we undertake to make enquiries?  If the OPA has no objection, I assume we don't, and we will make it available.

MS. LEA:  J8.1, please.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  TO Enquire and if possible PROVIDE 2011 MONTHLY BILLING IMPACT BROKEN DOWN BY PROGRAM TYPE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Moving along, I would like to ask you to turn up Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 13, and I am going to be looking at the response to part (b), in particular, which is on the second page.

MR. BUT:  I have that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So there are two tables here.  I won't increase -- well, maybe I will.  I am looking at the first two tables here.  The first table is "Peak-Load By Region", and the second table is "Peak-Load by Region Consistent With Total System Peak."  Do you see those?

MR. BUT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we asked in the last transmission case - and I sent you the transcript just so you could review it - about the difference between the two tables.  And you indicated the difference was only transmission losses.  Do you remember that conversation?

MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.  I believe that is what I said in the last rate case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And so, for example, the second table was measured at the point of generation, while the first was at the delivery point.   I think that was...

MR. BUT:  The first table was basically the non-coincident peak load by region, and the second table is the same information scaled to be consistent with the total system peak.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. BUT:  So the difference is the losses.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I think you have already said it, but then I think you said the first table in the response does not show the actual non-coincident peak for each region.  Is that true?

MR. BUT:  When I say non-coincident, in the sense that they are basically peak information for each of the regions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, again, it does not show the actual non-coincident peak for each region?

MR. BUT:  I don't understand your question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Are you telling me that it shows the actual non-coincident peak for each region?  So if we take one of the regions and look at one of the numbers, say for February, I have highlighted northwest 759 megawatts for February.

Is that the actual non-coincident peak for that region?

MR. BUT:  That would be our estimate of the peak for northwest in February that you highlighted, the number 759.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me try this.

I am going to ask you to call up -- you see I have highlighted "759" here, and I think if you look across the table for 2008 under the northwest region, the 759 is the highest number for northwest.  Do you see that?  Do you agree with me?


MR. BUT:  Yes.  Yes, I agree with you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am going to try this.  It is a little complicated, but hopefully it works.  I am going to call up AMPCO's response to interrogatories to it, which I believe are Exhibit N1, tab 4, schedule 5.

MR. ANDRE:  What's the exhibit?

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is on the top.  You can see it on the screen now, Exhibit N-1, tab 4, schedule 5.

MR. ANDRE:  We will use the screen.

MR. BUT:  Can you -- Mr. Buonaguro, can you make it bigger?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I am just -- it looks like your colleague is still looking.

MR. ANDRE:  No.  Can we use it off the screen?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, that's fine.  Sure.

So you will see that I have highlighted the bottom here, northwest.  So the same region.

And I guess we can use -- if we use July 2008 – sorry,  February 10th, so we've got the February range, and if we go back, so if we go over the page, I have highlighted what we believe to be the equivalent figure for the northwest region, of 849 megawatts.

So our understanding of these two tables is this 849 megawatts that is shown on this AMPCO response is equivalent to the 759 that you are showing in your response for 2008.  Okay?  So...

And we understand the AMPCO response to be -- well, we're trying to reconcile the two figures.

MR. BUT:  You are showing me a response you got from AMPCO?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. BUT:  And I cannot confirm that information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Rather than torturing everybody in the room by trying to understand on the fly, perhaps what you could do for me is undertake to take a look at your response and AMPCO's response on their face, and see if you can give me an explanation of why they would be different.

I understand that because it is AMPCO's response you may be somewhat limited, but if you could at least take a look at it, that would be helpful for us.

MR. ROGERS:  Could I ask my friend, Mr. Crocker?

If he could provide us with the source of AMPCO's information it might help Mr. But figure out what the difference is.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does that create a problem, Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  At the moment.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, no, then --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Over the next day or so?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I would just ask perhaps that the technical advisor for AMPCO could advise Mr. But directly, and leave me out of the equation.  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  J8.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.2:  to RECONCILE NUMBERS FOR NORTHWEST REGION FROM EXHIBIT N1, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 5, PAGE 2 AND EXHIBIT I, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 13, PAGE 2 OF 3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will tell you why I am asking.  It might be helpful.  Even if you can't reconcile it, it might be helpful.

As we said in the last hearing, the explanation was simply that the difference between the two tables in the Hydro One evidence was transmission loss.

And this difference, if we're understanding the two tables correctly as being comparable, shows more than a three percent difference, which you could attribute to transmission loss, because it shows a much larger difference.

So we want to make sure that we are understanding correctly, so that there is nothing -- something else going on other than transmission loss.

MR. BUT:  Okay.  We can look into it.

But by looking at the information, one possible thing could be the definition of the region.  Our definition of the region may be different from the definition of the region AMPCO uses.

So that could be a possible reason.  But we will look into this.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MR. ROGERS:  Do we need a --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  An undertaking number for that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think we have one.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We have one, thank you.

MS. LEA:  I thought it was the J8.2.  Am I misunderstanding?  Is this a new one?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, no.  I was just giving him an idea of why we are asking, to help him answer the question.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Great.  Thanks.

Perhaps, Mr. Buonaguro, if there is any confusion, you could state in simple terms the nature of the reconciliation you are seeking, just for the record.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was hoping you wouldn't ask me that.

MS. LEA:  It is the two documents; if you just list the two documents, I think that will help.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That is easy enough.

So the reconciliation between the figures on Exhibit N1, tab 4, schedule 5, which we believe to show the largest proportion of the northwest region -- and that is at page 2 of that response -- versus the figure, the equivalent figure shown on Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 13, page 2 of 3, again for the northwest region to 2008.

What we believe to be the equivalent figure, and that is part of what the undertaking is, to reconcile the two.  Thank you.

So you will be happy to know those are my load forecast questions.  I am moving on to cost allocation questions.  I only have a couple of cost allocation questions for you.

And I am starting with VECC No, 60, which is Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 60.

MR. ANDRE:  I'm there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in part (a) of this, we showed -- or we asked for an explanation as to the significant increase since the last proceeding in the gross book value for the "other" category of assets from, 40 million to over 300 million.

And I will start with the second part of the answer here, which I will pull up.

And to summarize, the second factor that you listed in terms of the explanation noted that roughly $150 million was misallocated to the category, and that this will be corrected in the final rate determination?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And from our mind, that left approximately $100 million of increase unexplained.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But then you go back to the first factor, which presumably is supposed to explain that, but reading the first factor -- and I will move it up -- it refers to how spending for 2008 was less than originally forecast.

And I take it that is supposed to be the explanation for the --


MR. ANDRE:  For the remaining?

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- increase in 100, because -- you can see where I am going -- you would think that if spending was less in 2008 than originally forecast, then that would lead to a reduction, not an increase of approximately $100 million.

Can you reconcile our concern?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  I believe I can help you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. ANDRE:  So the bulk of the change in the number that remains, there's an increase in other assets associated with the re-categorization, the move from -- as a result of changes to the operating configuration, some pieces of line moved from line connection to network, and that is shown in I, Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 56.  But that is only a small portion.

The bulk of the change is largely attributed to a number of line assets that in the previous application -- so the 2010 number that you referred to -- had been classified as "common" so they had been put in the "common" functional category last time around.

And that was inappropriate.  They actually belong in the "other" category, when you look at the detail of what those assets were and you look at the functional definition of what should be in each of those functional categories.  And that is in Exhibit G1, tab 2, schedule 1.

You see that they should appropriately be classified as "other".

Now, the important thing to note is whether an asset appears in the "other" or the "common" category has zero influence as far as the costs that ends up in the network line connection or transformation connection pool.

The allocation for the "common" and the "other" functional categories is identical.  So whether it is appears in one or the other doesn't make a difference.

But yes, that is the reason why it is different in 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think, just to round that off, it doesn't make a difference as long as there is a corresponding reduction in the "common", which I am assuming was the case?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  That explains our concern.

And I am moving to -- I think it is the next interrogatory response, VECC No. 61.

In part (a) – sorry, that is the wrong one.

In part (a) of VECC IR I-4-61, we asked for a table that looked at the changing gross book value and depreciation by functional category of asset between the last case and this filing.

And can you confirm my general understanding that depreciation is based on gross book value for assets and service, and the service life for the assets?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  The depreciation, certainly in terms of how it is allocated to the various functional categories, is -- the allocation happens as a function of the gross book value.  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, looking at the table, you see I have highlighted two categories.  What surprised us in looking at the results of this particular table was that the in wholesale meters there was a 24 percent decline in asset value, but no change in depreciation.  Do you see that?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then similarly, in network assets, the gross book value increased by 3 percent, but the depreciation increased by 13 percent.  Do you see that?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we asked for an explanation as part of the interrogatory, and you referred us to VECC number 60.  You can see it at part (b):
"The noted differences are primarily attributable to the fact that the 2010 and 2011 Gross Book Value and Depreciation numbers compared are calculated based on a different forecast of in-service additions and customer load, as discussed in Exhibit I, Tab 4, Schedule 60."


MR. ANDRE:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But if you go to 60, and I won't go to it unless you want to, but my understanding is VECC 60 just talks about why the gross book value varies between the two and doesn't necessarily talk directly to depreciation?

MR. ANDRE:  To the depreciation, certainly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So could you help us reconcile this, because we think that they'd probably, absent a specific explanation, be a correlation between the changes in gross book value and depreciation numbers.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay.  Yes, I think I can help you.

There's a couple of things at play here.  The reference back to Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 60 was with respect to the fact that the 2010 numbers that you are looking at would have been -- in our last application, they would have been developed based on 2007 actual values forecast out to 2010.  So those are the 2010 numbers that you are looking at.

The 2011 numbers that you are looking at from the current application would have used 2009 actuals and a different forecast of what would happen in 2010 and 2011.

So the two numbers, the 2010 and 2011, are based on completely different forecasts of what is happening in each of those years.  So that's the primary reason, so -- and that difference would only -- would not only be with respect to the gross book value of assets in each of those years, but also to the forecast of depreciation in each of those years or the forecast of the total depreciation in each of those years.

As I mentioned earlier, because depreciation by functional category, when you see the values for each functional category, that is done on the basis of gross book value.  That is how we get the bottom-line depreciation number, which comes from our depreciation exhibit, Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1.  That is where the bottom-line depreciation number comes from.

To get it into the various functional categories, we use the gross book value of the assets in those categories as the way to allocate that.

So if you have differences in the gross book value within the functional categories, that will lead to differences in the depreciation.  And, as I say, you are really looking at a completely different forecast of 2010 versus 2011.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I think I understood some of that.

Perhaps I could just ask you to extend your answer just a little bit in terms of why -- I can understand why you would seek changes in numbers, but what we're seeing here is changes in the proportions between the numbers.

So in a lot of the other categories there are -- I guess I shouldn't say that.  A lot of them seem off, but we would expect, for example, a 10 percent increase in the network gross book value number to have a similar or at least a proportional increase in depreciation, and vice versa.

And what we thought we have identified here is disproportionate changes in one versus the other.  Can you talk about the relationship of the numbers a little bit?

MR. ANDRE:  Sure.  I think I've done a couple of things.  So first off, let me just highlight.

For example, if you looked at, for the network category, the 2010 value of assets, 5,319.6 million, do you see that value?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. ANDRE:  And the depreciation associated with that 104.8, that represents about 2 percent of the network category for 2010.If you did the same calculation for 2011, you are at 2.1 percent.

So they're very comparable when you are looking at the depreciation and the gross book value of assets in the same year.  It is when you try to go across years, because they were done -- as I said, one started with 2007 and forecast out all the way to 2010, and the other number starts with a different starting point and a different set of forecasts.  I think that is what is leading to the difference.

What I did was -- another comparison would have been like the 2010 value under the current assumptions.  So if you looked at the 2010 number based on the current assumptions, for example, to take your wholesale meter value, you would end up with a figure of 5 million as the value of the assets in 2010 and a value of 0.1.  And what I get is a negative 30 percent, so a 30 percent decline in the asset value and a 31 percent decline in the depreciation value, when I look at 2010 and 2011 forecast on the same basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. ANDRE:  So I did that as a check, because I think you raised a fair point, and I had to convince myself that there wasn't anything going on here, and that is what I concluded.  It is the basis of the forecasts that are causing the confusion.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I thank you for that.  I am going to trust you have given me enough information for my consultant to feel better about it.  Thank you.

Now, we have characterized these next few questions as related to the High 5 proposal, but I think that they're related, because they're -- it may be part of -- well, it is part of the cost allocation rate design load forecast.  It is specific information.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to start with VECC number 62; I-4, schedule 62.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay, I have that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And here the table shows a -- you indicate in the answer the total number of billed months for each class of customers and the number that are billed at 85 percent of NCP, so that is what the table describes; correct?

MR. ANDRE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And here we're showing 90 customer delivery points for directs?

MR. ANDRE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are we understanding correctly that some directs will have more than one delivery point and that there are, therefore, less than 90 direct customers?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.  Some directs may have more than one delivery point.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me offhand how many customers there are that would cover those 90 delivery points?

MR. ANDRE:  Just bear with me for a sec.  I thought I had in here.  Mr. Buonaguro, I do have that information.  I can't lay my fingers on it right now, but you are correct.  It is a smaller number and I can certainly get that for you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will take that by way of undertaking.

MS. LEA:  J8.3, please.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, is it fair to say that for a particular direct connect customer with more than one delivery point, coincident peak could apply at one delivery point and 85 percent of non-coincident peak could apply at another within the same month?

MR. ANDRE:  Each delivery point is assessed its own transmission charges, so, yes, that could happen.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then is it fair to say that a direct could be billed on 85 percent of non-coincident peak in one month and billed using coincident peak in the next?

MR. ANDRE:  For an individual delivery point?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Or a customer.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's true, and it would even be for an individual delivery point, as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So is it reasonable to say that while -- we have done the calculation, 58.6 percent, which is 633 -- if you look at the table, 633 over 1,080 of the billed months, so 58.6 percent of the billed months, are based on 85 percent of non-coincident peak, and, conversely, therefore, 41.4 percent are based on coincident peak.

The percentage of direct customers seeing at least some bills during the year that involve coincident peak would be greater than 41.4 percent.  Does that make sense to you?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  Yes, that makes sense.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And so if you look at this on a customer basis, can you tell me how many customers there are whose bills during the year will be based entirely on 85 percent of the non-coincident peak?  And I guess because you don't have the actual number of customers, you can't tell me off the top of your head, but is that something you could do?

MR. ANDRE:  Well, if I could, I would like to do undertaking J8.3 right now, because I did find that information.  And so there's 65.  We have 65 direct customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, right.

MR. ANDRE:  But in terms of how many of those would be -- what was your question again, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  How many, then, would have bills during the years that would be based entirely on 85 percent of non-coincident peak?

MR. ANDRE:  I certainly couldn't do that from here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it something you can do easily by undertaking?

MR. ANDRE:  It might.  Certainly not overnight, but I think we could do that, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  If you can look into it and --


MR. ROGERS:  We will take it under advisement, and can I suggest we assign that J8.3, which just evaporated, to this undertaking?

MS. LEA:  Yes, thank you.  So --


MR. ROGERS:  If it is going to be onerous, I will let you know.

MS. LEA:  J8.3 is replaced with a new undertaking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  That is how many customers there are whose bills during the year would be based entirely on 85 percent of non-coincident peak.

MR. ANDRE:  Direct customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You are interested in sort of an absolute impact, a sort of number of people who will be impacted?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.
UNDERTAKING NO. J8.3:  to PROVIDE the NUMBER OF DIRECT CUSTOMERS WHOSE BILLS DURING THE YEAR WOULD BE BASED ENTIRELY ON 85 PERCENT OF NON-COINCIDENT PEAK.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now I am going to move to Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 63, so VECC 63.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You are faster than I am.

MR. ANDRE:  It is right after.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, it is.

MR. ANDRE:  62.

MR. BUOAGURO:  And I have to reach for the button, so...

Now, here -- I will move around when it is necessary
-- but basically in this, in the response you indicate that the forecast transmission billing determinant for each delivery point -- well, here you are showing us the forecast transmission billing determinant for each delivery point you have, under both the current methodology and under the High 5 proposal.  And you can see response (a), the table that starts, so each –- you have the delivery point and then what would happen -- what happens now and what would happen under -– sorry, I am getting confused.

MR. ANDRE:  Now, the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think there are two tables.

MR. ANDRE:  Yeah.  We sent an updated table, I think, Mr. Buonaguro, per your request that combined.

So you are still looking at the older one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I am looking at the older version, you're correct.

MR. ANDRE:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it is this one.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's the one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  There we go.  So it shows side by side what happens now and what would happen under the High 5 proposal.  So we are all looking at the same thing now.  Thank you.

Would you take it, subject to check, that the number of delivery points with the zero value under the current methodology is 14 out of 609?  And I don't think you see anyone on this page, but if you go over a page I think we see one here.  Delivery point ID No. 16 has a zero under it?

MR. ANDRE:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you take it, subject to check?

I don't want you to go through the table and count, but we counted and we got 14.

MR. ANDRE:  That's the same number I got, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Could you briefly explain how the billing quantity for delivery point could be zero under the current methodology?

MR. ANDRE:  Certainly.  Those delivery points are all generator connection delivery points.  And so they are generators that took no load during the year, so I guess they must not have had a planned or forced outage during the year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is that the only --


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  All 14 are generator connection delivery points.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Now, under the current methodology, are there any customers who, taking into account all of their delivery points, would have a zero billing determinant for transmission?

MR. ANDRE:  Under the current methodology?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. ANDRE:  No.  As I said, this chart, those 14 zeroes, I looked them up and they were all generator connection delivery points.

So based on this chart, I would say no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So those customers would have multiple delivery points, I think.  Is that... sorry.  When you say "customers" you exclude generators?

MR. ANDRE:  No.  This table is all delivery points on our system, which include distribution companies, directs and generators.  But the 14 that are showing as zero value here are all generator connection delivery points.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, would you accept, subject to check -- although I think you have already done the math -- that under the High 5 proposal, the number of delivery points with a zero value is 72 out of 609?

MR. ANDRE:  That one I didn't check, but I will take that subject to check, sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I won't fault you for not checking.

And that is more than 10 percent of 609, which I think is pure math?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I will take that subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Under the High 5 methodology, then, are there any customers who, taking into account all of their delivery points, would have a zero billing determinant for transmission?

Presumably, you have the 14 generators plus.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  Yes.  And I think certainly some of the other generators, there are other generators that would -- that do take load occasionally because they're on an outage.  Most of those would drop to zero as well.

Non-generators, I don't know if we have that in evidence.  Non- -- so direct customers that are not generators, I am not sure that any of them would drop to zero completely.  I would have to check that.  I don't have that information with me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  When you say you "have to check that" is that something that you could do easily?  Or... I don't know if it is information you just don't have in front of you, versus you have to do some sort of analysis.

MR. ANDRE:  That would be relatively easy, because it would be -- for the purpose of this interrogatory, for confidentiality reasons, we've identified all of the delivery points simply as 1 through 609.

But we do have a sheet that has the actual customers, so it would be a matter of checking if any of those deliveries are direct customers.

So that would be relatively easy to do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you could do that by way of undertaking?

MS. LEA:  J8.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.4:  UNDER HIGH 5 METHODOLOGY, to PROVIDE NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS WHO WOULD HAVE A ZERO BILLING DETERMINANT FOR TRANSMISSION, TAKING INTO ACCOUNT ALL OF THEIR DELIVERY POINTS

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, moving to Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 36, which is a BOMA interrogatory.

MR. ANDRE:  I-6-36?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay.  I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I am looking at part (e) of the response in particular, and here you indicate that the highest five load days in 2009 actually occurred in two months, January and August, as opposed to all in the summer.  Do you see that?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  Well, January, June and August, I guess.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  January, June and August.

MR. ANDRE:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, would it be fair to say that this result would be partially a function of weather?

MR. BUT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you tell me what the equivalent results were for 2008 and 2010, to date?  And that would presumably be by way of undertaking, I think.

MR. BUT:  I don't have 2008 numbers, but for 2010 I am pretty sure that it will be all in the summer.  So sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you undertake to provide the 2008 equivalent information?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  J8.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.5:  to PROVIDE 2008 DATES FOR HIGHEST FIVE LOAD DAYS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  This is my last bit.  And actually, I think this has been talked about already today with the PA panel, panel number 5.

Can you turn up Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 37?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I have that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I have highlighted, in particular, response -- the (h) part of the response, which is on page 3.

And here you talk about how at the system level, the assessment of adequacy is based on system-coincident peak and relevant planning criteria.  Do you see that?

MR. ANDRE:  I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it fair to say that for those transmission facilities that have their maximum usage at the time of the system peak, you would be seeing if the relevant NERC, NPCC and IESO planning criteria were met at that time?

MR. ANDRE:  I think that is a fair assumption.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And is it also fair to say that for facilities that have their maximum usage at times other than the system peak, adequacy would be based on the ability of the system to carry the loads at that time, in accordance with the relevant planning criteria?

MR. ANDRE:  The -- you are going into an area that is not sort of my expertise.  I do recall this interrogatory, and I recall getting our system planners to provide this response.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. ANDRE:  That sounds -- I did do a stint in system planning, and that sounds reasonable, but I wouldn't be able to confirm one way or the other.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Reasonable to take it, subject to check?  And then --


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  I certainly would take that, subject to check, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, hopefully I am not going too far into system planning for you, but can you turn up Exhibit I-9-24.  I think that is an AMPCO interrogatory.

And I have highlighted here part (b), or at least part of the part (b) answer.

MR. ANDRE:  Okay.  Yes, I am there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so here part of the answer is:
"...Power Advisory didn’t identify any network transmission investments that would be deferred and found that given the concentration of direct industrial customers, load reductions of sufficient magnitude to defer transmission investments are only likely to occur in areas where such investments are not needed."


As I am reading that, I point out that is actually a Power Advisory response, so that is their conclusion?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Does Hydro One agree with that conclusion?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, we do.  I know that Power Advisory, one of the pieces of information they asked us for was details of all of our investments that were in this application, and they indicated that they would be reviewing those to identify any that could be deferred, you know, and so this response is based on their review of our planned work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I think that was referred to earlier in the day as anecdotal evidence.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  I recall.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  And obviously I have questions for the IESO that are on panel 6, but that is for Monday.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Crocker.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  I don't think this is going to take any time at all.  I am not sure, by the way, that that was the anecdotal evidence.

However, can either of you two help me in knowing whether you were involved, or anybody else at Hydro One, in developing a suitable proposal for implementing the High 5 proposal?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I was involved in that.  I know that we had initially included, in Exhibit H -- let me just get that.  In the Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 1, we had initially put in a little bit of information on implementation, and then we subsequently updated the evidence to include more information based on discussions with the IESO in terms of what would be required to implement the proposal.

MR. CROCKER:  And, once again, can you tell me where that is?

MR. ANDRE:  Certainly.  So it is in the updated Exhibit H1, tab 3, schedule 1 that was updated July 6th.  It is in section 4.1 titled "Implementation of the High 5 Proposal".  And there is, one, two -- there is about three pages of evidence relating to implementation there.

MR. CROCKER:  Can you tell me what your particular involvement was, what expertise you brought to the table?

MR. ANDRE:  It was basically having some discussions with IESO staff and confirming if there would be any issues, you know, from their end related to implementing the proposal.

It was reviewing the Power Advisory report and, based on what they had to say in terms of the methodology, whether any of that would have any implementation-type considerations.

MR. CROCKER:  And in light of what I presume you understand to be the changes to the global adjustment based on the High 5 proposal, which are going to be part of a regulation which the government is going to table, but to the best of my knowledge hasn't yet - it is still in draft - is it your view that implementation of the global adjustment will be roughly the same as the High 5 proposal, should the Board accept it?

MR. ANDRE:  My discussions were strictly with respect to the transmission.  I don't know if there are any more complexities associated with implementing global adjustment.  I think as was mentioned this -- excuse me.

As was mentioned this morning, global adjustment applies to all customers greater than 5 megawatts, some of which are in the distribution system, and I think that introduces some complications; whereas this is strictly transmission-connected customers.

So I do believe that the implementation of the High 5 methodology for transmission would be somewhat less complex than the global adjustment, is my understanding.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  Ms. Lea.

It is our intention, Ms. Lea, to go to about 4:20 today.  Do you think you can complete within that time or...

MS. LEA:  Well, I will have some questions for the part of panel 6 that is not here yet.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.

MS. LEA:  But I will see what I can do to complete everything I have for this panel.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I will certainly keep my eye on the clock, in any event.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, I wanted to ask you a couple of questions about the High 5 proposal, and I want to back up a little bit and ask you to please contrast the present network charge determinant, the status quo we have now, with the connection charge determinant.

Can one of you assist me as to whether these charge determinants are relatively similar or very different?

MR. ANDRE:  The two methodologies are quite different.  The network is based on the higher of coincident peak or 85 percent of the non-coincident peak in the hours between 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m., whereas the line connection and transformation connection charges are based -- sorry, and those are net load-based for the network, so they are net of embedded generation; whereas for the line connection and transformation connection, it is based on non-coincident peak and you have to add back any embedded generation.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hm.  And if the High 5 proposal was adopted, would the charge determinants be more similar or more different than they are now?

MR. ANDRE:  Considerably different.  I don't know about the absolute numbers, but...

MS. LEA:  The methodology, sir, not the absolute result.

MR. ANDRE:  They would be more different.

MS. LEA:  More different.

MR. ANDRE:  More different, yes.

MS. LEA:  If that is the case, would the significance of the functionalization or cost allocation be greater between network and connection?  In other words, would it be more important whether a facility was network or connection than it is under the status quo?

MR. ANDRE:  I'm not sure if I would characterize the importance with respect to how the charges are collected.  An asset is either a network asset or it is -- you know, it's a line connection or transformation connection asset.

I am not sure how they would relate to how you collect the charges for those particular pools.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So you would not agree that the assignment of various lines segments in network versus connection need to be reexamined if the Board determines that the High 5 proposal should be implemented?

MR. ANDRE:  I believe the methodology that is currently in place for assigning the assets to the various functional categories, and then subsequently to the three rate pools, is a good approach.  And, no, I wouldn't see that you would need to revisit that.

MS. LEA:  Does it matter that some of the network facilities would have their peak outside -- the network facilities themselves would have their peak outside the High 5 hours in a year?

MR. ANDRE:  That, you know, certainly is one of the issues with moving to the AMPCO methodology in terms of the alignment between what people are paying and the use to which the network assets are being put.

MS. LEA:  Can you tell me, then, if a concern arises?

MR. ANDRE:  I think the concerns with the AMPCO methodology have been sort of -- have been -- sorry, Hydro One's concerns have been documented previously in the previous case, and I don't anticipate -- so I think in case EB-2006-0501, Hydro One had identified what it saw as the benefits of the status quo.

And in the undertaking J -- sorry, interrogatory response Exhibit J, tab 5, schedule 124, we had laid out what we saw as the benefits of the current methodology, and that is -- hasn't fundamentally changed.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.

I wonder if we could look at two exhibits together.  I believe we will have to do that.  Let's begin with an interrogatory you were referred to by Mr. Buonaguro, which is a VECC interrogatory, No. 13.  So that is Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 13.

Unfortunately, I don't have a compendium prepared today.  So when we look at part (b), which is page 2 of the interrogatory, we see tables giving peak load by region, and peak load by region consistent with total system peak; is that correct?

MR. BUT:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  And in part (c), then -- just one moment.

And the table at (c) shows the peak hour for each region for each month in 2009.  So table (c) would be the same, the table in part (c), which is the bottom of page 3, would be the same type of table as the second one on page 2; am I correct?

In other words, it is consistent with total system peak?

MR. BUT:  Part (c) provides the information where each of the peak occur at each of the five regions.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And are regional peak loads relevant to the planning of network facilities?

MR. ANDRE:  Again, I am not a planner, but I certainly believe they are, yes.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So I would like, then, to look a little more closely at this data, and also to look at a BOMA interrogatory, which is Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 36, please.  You may want to pull that up as well.  I am going to be moving, possibly, between these two.

This was also referred to by Mr. Buonaguro, and you will see at the bottom of page 1 of that interrogatory that we have the highest peak days in demand, the day and hour at which the top five peak hours occurred; is that correct, in 2009?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  And when we look, then, at the VECC answer 13 (c) for the eastern region, we see that the eastern region peak coincided with the third-highest day; that was January 15?

MR. BUT:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And I would imagine, then, that they also had a close to peak, or they were high, at least, on the fourth- and fifth-highest days, which are also in January, according to the BOMA interrogatory?

MR. BUT:  Subject to check, I believe I will accept what you said.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  It is a supposition rather than a fact, I have to have, definitely.

And if we look at the VECC interrogatory, in section (b) we can see there was a regional peak in that region in December 2009 that was higher than either of the August days that are included as numbers 1 and 2 in the High 5 hours in the BOMA interrogatory; is that right?

MR. ANDRE:  Sorry, Ms. Lea.  What days did you...

MS. LEA:  Now you are asking.

MR. ANDRE:  Yeah.  Which ones in the -- in I-4-13?  What was the reference in I-4-13?

MS. LEA:  Yes.  It is on page 2.

MR. ANDRE:  Mm-hmm.

MS. LEA:  In the middle table.  And if you look at the east region, they've got December days that were higher than August days for them.

MR. ANDRE:  Right.  But the system peak was in August, yes.

MS. LEA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  What I am trying to establish here, gentlemen -- I think it is pretty obvious -- is that not every region of the system peaks at the same time the system does.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.

MS LEA:  And that's true.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Similarly, as we go through this exercise for the northeast region and for the northwest region, we find that there are several days for northeast, there are loads on at least six different months that were higher than the load during the highest and second-highest hours in High 5.

And that is because these regions are dealing still with mostly winter peak; am I right?

MR. BUT:  Yes.  Your observations are absolutely right.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Similarly for the northwest region, they're largely dealing with a winter peak system right now?

MR. BUT:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Given that these regions peak at different times than the entire system peak, does that suggest that we need a different High 5 for these different regions?  Do we need to subdivide the province?

MR. ANDRE:  Certainly that is not the -- that's not the methodology that's been put before this Board.

MS. LEA:  No, I understand that.  I am asking for your view.

MR. ANDRE:  Ultimately, everything boils down to one uniform transmission rate that is levied across all of Ontario; it is levied to all transmission customers.

So I don't know, you know, unless we wanted to change the approach and have regional transmission rates, I am not sure that it would be possible to come up with a regional-based transmission peaks and transmission charges.

MS. LEA:  Does the fact that there are these regional differences and that three of the regions do not peak at the same time as the other two, apparently in 2009 at least, suggest that there is a problem with moving to the High 5 proposal?

Is the difficulty exacerbated by moving to the High 5 proposal, when you get a narrower and narrower band that you are considering when billing customers?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I would agree that is one of the potential difficulties with moving to the High 5.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One moment.

I wonder if Hydro One has considered an alternative that involves a shifting, but a -- if I can put it this way -- a less radical cost or shift than all the way to High 5.

I wonder if I could put some ideas to you.

The 85 percent of non-coincident peak that at present is included in the network charge determinants, it is the higher of consumption at the one-hour peak or 85 percent of the non-coincident peak observed during a 12 weekday daytime period.

That 85 percent, was that based on a formal study, or was that a judgmental amount that you derived through just the exercise of -- I don't want to say best guess -- but best judgment at the time?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  So my recollection is that 85 percent figure was established during the RP-1999-0044, and as I recall, I think the 85 represented a compromise position, that, you know, several parties wanted just coincident peak.  Other parties felt it should be all non-coincident peak.

And I recall that that, again, did represent a compromise position.

There was some rationale from the decision, and it is documented in the Board's decision on that case, in terms of what the rationale was.  But I don't believe there were any hard studies done to back up that number.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  If that 85 percent were lowered, say it became 67 percent, the responsibility for costs of direct customers would, in general, decrease as a result of such an adjustment?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I believe that is correct.

MS. LEA:  And what would happen if instead of saying the greater of the two options, if the greater of were dropped, and the charge determinant were simply the highest hour consumption within the peak period?

MR. ANDRE:  The peak period being, I guess, a month?

MS. LEA:  Well...

MR. ANDRE:  I am not sure I understand what it is --


MS. LEA:  One hour a month?  Yes, each month, yes.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  I believe moving to a sort of a monthly coincident peak was something that was looked at two transmission cases ago; I think -0501 at the time.  That was the case that I was involved in, and I remember there were at least two options that we looked at for alternatives to the network methodology, and monthly coincident peak was one of them.


And, again, that had impacts associated with it, as well, in terms of load or cost shifting.

MS. LEA:  Do you recall what those impacts were, sir?

MR. ANDRE:  No, I'm afraid I do not.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  But I can look it up if I go back to those cases?

MR. ANDRE:  Absolutely, yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Just a moment, please.

Would there -- how about the option of instead of having a High 5 hours, have fewer hours in the peak period that we have now, but more than five per year?  I guess I could come up with a number of ten, 20.  What effect would that have, or do you know, directionally of course?

MR. ANDRE:  We haven't -- I mean, you know 12 -- 12 numbers would be sort of equivalent to the monthly -- well, I guess it wouldn't.  It would depend on what months it would happen.  But there are any number of combinations that could be used, obviously.

The use of five is somewhat similar to a couple of U.S. jurisdictions that use something similar.  I know I have seen 12 coincident peaks used.  I think there is another jurisdiction that uses that.

But, Ms. Lea, I mean, there are a variety of combinations that could be looked at.  We haven't studied any of those.

MS LEA:  And why not?

MR. ANDRE:  Following the 0501 where we had laid out a couple of options, the Board had decided to remain with the status quo.  At the time, the methodology that AMPCO was proposing the Board did not feel had been adequately justified.

So in the subsequent case, AMPCO provided a more detailed proposal, which is the High 5, and in the Board's direction in our last transmission case, their direction was to go and look at a more detailed assessment of the AMPCO High 5 proposal.

That is all that we were asked to do as the outcome of the last transmission application.

MS. LEA:  I understand.  But I suppose it would be possible, of course, to investigate these other alternatives if the Board found that neither of the alternatives before it was what they wanted to decide on?

MR. ANDRE:  Certainly it is in the Board's, you know, arena to direct us to do whatever they wish.

I would note that, as I say, any number of options are possible, although the number of options in use in other jurisdictions is very limited, you know, to essentially the ones that we've been talking about in this case.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And I may be venturing with this question into an area that you are not particularly comfortable with, but when system planners look at network facilities, is there some number of hours per year, averaged over a number of years, a planning cycle, for example - I don't know what that would be, maybe ten years - that they would use to determine the need for new network system investment?

Is there some way we could tie this kind of charge determinant to something that is more closely related to system planning?  That is the purport of my question.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. ANDRE:  Sorry, Ms. Lea.  Neither my panel member nor I could certainly comment on the number of hours that planners use to make that decision.

MS. LEA:  I just need a moment, please, to determine what else I have here.

Two more things, I think, gentlemen.  I wonder if we could look -- have a look at a Board Staff interrogatory, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 24.  And you will also need to look at, at the same time, an AMPCO interrogatory, and it is Exhibit I, tab 9, schedule 11.  So that is Board Staff 24 and AMPCO 11.

MR. BUT:  Yes, I have that.

MS. LEA:  All right, thank you.  So in the Board Staff interrogatory, schedule 24 of Exhibit I, tab 1 -- and this is kind of a silly thing, but in your answer to (b) you say:
"Figures 1b and 2b below present the information for all summer and winter days."


And then there is no table.  I am wondering whether we actually find the table in that other AMPCO interrogatory.

And I am not trying to be silly about this or make you look silly.  I just want to make sure I've got the right thing.

MR. BUT:  Yes, I can clarify.  Actually, when I was looking at the evidence last night, I found that the -- our evidence, when we filed, it was a page missing.

MS. LEA:  Okay.

MR. BUT:  So we actually have the graph prepared, but it was missing.

MS. LEA:  That's fine.  So let's look at the AMPCO interrogatory, then.  So that is Exhibit I, tab 9, schedule 11, and I would like to look at the second page of that interrogatory, please, which has these graphs of the average temperatures over several years.

Would it be true to suggest that these graphs suggest that we are moving more and more towards a summer system peak?

MR. BUT:  We are already in -- in the last few years, we are already in a summer peaking situation.

MS. LEA:  And are we moving towards a situation where the High 5 hours would occur in the summer?  Are we moving towards such a situation, or can you tell yet?

MR. BUT:  It is very difficult to predict weather patterns.

For example, last year we have a really cold summer, if at all -- but this year we have a lot of hot days.  And going back to a few years ago, we also have some years that we have a very high and hot summer days, but, again, it goes in cycles, and there is no guarantee that in any particular year that we would have peak in the summer or -- and not in the winter months.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hm.  All right.  I guess I was just looking at the trends since 1983 that is marked on these graphs.

MR. BUT:  Even in the graph that we have under I-9-11, in the graph that you -- figure 1b, we can still see that we have the hottest day fluctuating between years.

So my conclusion is, as we commented earlier in the evidence, the weather patterns are very volatile.

MS. LEA:  And what number of days per year were these charts based?  Was it the hottest day in the given month or in a given year, or...

MR. BUT:  This is for the winter and summer, the hottest day of the year, of each year.

MS LEA:  Okay, thank you.

One moment, please, sir.  I just want to make sure...
Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Maybe while you are doing that, Ms. Lea, just on the point we were just discussing, Mr. But, in your cost allocation analysis, utilization analysis, is it your observation that the penetration of air conditioning has been on a steady rise over the last decade or so?

MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.  Currently the air conditioning saturation in the province I believe is very high, in the range of 75, 80 percent on average.

However, that is taking into consideration of existing houses without air conditioning, so that is an overall number.  But when we look at houses built, for example, in the GTA area, I would say 90, 95 percent of the houses would have an air conditioning unit.  So for new houses, the air conditioning would be even higher.

But of course when we talk about houses in the northern regions, the air conditioning units may not be -- in terms of saturation, would not be as high in the GTA area, for example.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So if that is the observation, even if you had a constant, as far as the weather trend, and there wasn't a variable as far as a trending upwards, just the increase in air conditioning saturation, would that correlate with a tendency towards more summer peaks, in any event?

MR. BUT:  That would be correct observation.

However, there will be situation in which we have very cool summer, and in that case we would have peak months in the winter months, and, therefore, under the High 5 proposal we would have -- we would be using the winter months instead of summer months in terms of determining the High 5.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, I understand.  And that would be -- what I am trying to match against is the variable of a trend of increased air-conditioning saturation; is there any corresponding increase in electric heat saturation?

MR. BUT:  In the province right now, I believe the electric heater saturation has been declining, has been stable, but declining.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions for this half of this panel.  I do have questions for the second half.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  If I could be given just a few minutes to clear up a few things before we break today?

Hopefully this panel --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Chair, could I ask permission of the Board to ask one question resulting -- I know it is unusual -- resulting from Ms. Lea's cross-examination, just so that I can understand something?

And if it is inappropriate, if after you hear the question you think it is inappropriate, you can advise?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Go ahead, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

Mr. Andre, Ms. Lea was asking you about various different peaks, instead of High 5, 10, 12, et cetera, et cetera.  And you said you hadn't studied that as a result of the earlier decision, but I think your answer was that after the 0272 decision, that Hydro One was directed to, in fact, investigate those issues.

And what I am asking you is:  Did you do something else, did Hydro One do something else other than commission the Power Advisory report?

Should there be something else before this Board, as to -- or should we have seen something else with respect to what you have done?

MR. ANDRE:  Well, Mr. Crocker, if I misspoke, I apologize.

What I believe I was trying to say was that as a result of the 0272 decision, the direction from the Board was to -- was not to examine other options.  It was simply to do a further detailed assessment of the AMPCO proposal.

And that is what we did.

MR. CROCKER:  My fault.  I misunderstood.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers?
Questions by Mr. Rogers for Mr. Thompson:


MR. ROGERS:  If I could have a moment, sir, thank you.

Mr. Thompson sent some written questions to this panel, and –-

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  He rules from afar.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  As his agent, I am going to decline to answer the questions on behalf of my client.

I will tell you what they are.  The first question -- just so he knows when he reads the transcript -- asks my client to give a bill impact comparison basically for distribution customers, residential distribution customers, with the Board's website, I think, for some rates for the Board.

I submit it is all distribution-related and of no value, probative value in this case.  So if he were here, I would object to producing the information.

If he comes, he can argue -- you already said we will revisit --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will revisit it.  If Mr. Thompson raises it on Monday morning we will reconsider it at that point.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

He had three questions.  The second question was dealing with the RPP customers, and his question was -- he wants my client to advise as to what the magnitude of the November reset yet to come will be for the regulated price plan:

“What approximate percentage increase in their total monthly bill should RPP customers be preparing themselves for as of November 1, 2010?"
And I am instructed that this comes from the Board, and so my client is not in a position to answer that.

The third question he put to us is to ask whether there are:

“...any elements of Hydro One's transmission revenue requirement that vary with surplus base load generation."

For 2011 and 2012.  And I think those questions, we are in a position to answer.  I don't know whether Mr. Andre can do it now or whether we should do it by way of an undertaking.

If it is more than two minutes, we will do it by undertaking.

MR. ANDRE:  No.  It wouldn't take more than two minutes.

MR. ROGERS:  Can you just put on the record and answer Mr. Thompson's question for us, please?

MR. ANDRE:  So the question is:

“Are there any elements of Hydro One's transmission revenue requirement that vary with surplus base load generation.  If so, what are they?"

MR. ROGERS:  That's the first, yes.

MR. ANDRE:  So my response would be no, there is no impact on our revenue requirement.  There might be an impact on the rates revenue requirement, which is simply the revenue requirement less the export revenues.

So to the extent that surplus base load generation would impact export revenues, I suppose there could be an effect, but I would note that the '10 and '11 forecast of export revenues that we use is based on the IESO's forecast for '10 and '11, and they would have full knowledge, and in fact, I think their methodology for developing those export forecasts take into account surplus -- or base load generation, I should say.

So we are using the IESO forecast for '10 and '11, which I assume take that into account.  So the answer is no, there would be no impact.

MR. ROGERS:  Two more things, and I'll let you know you will be gone before 4:20.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, that's fine.

MR. ROGERS:  May I just advise the Board that I believe this -- we will call this panel 6a, if I might, and panel 6b will be here on Monday, which is the IESO panel.

And they have a change of witnesses, I am instructed.  Mr. Ira Shavel will now be one of the witnesses, and I have a copy of his CV which we can circulate.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board also has that.

MR. ROGERS:  Fine.  That's good.

Finally, sir, it looks as though the pace has picked up here a little bit, and I don't know what the Board's schedule is next week in terms of -- I am thinking of argument.

But I will advise the Board, and you may wish to think about this, that if we complete the evidence by Wednesday, which I think is possible now, I would be prepared to argue the case Friday if you were available.  My argument would take an hour or less.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  That is helpful.

MS. LEA:  Having heard that from Mr. Rogers -- not the reference to argument, but previously, the new CV, we will give it an exhibit number because it has not yet been entered.  K8.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.2:  CV OF IRA SHAVEL.

MS LEA:  Mr. Rogers, just to clarify, these two gentlemen will be returning on Monday, Mr. But and Mr. Andre?

MR. ROGERS:  I wasn't planning on having them back, Mr. Chairman.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  I do not know that people understood that only the IESO witnesses would be available on Monday.  In fact, I think there may be one or more counsel that may have questions which these two gentlemen could help with.

In other words, the IESO subject may involve some contribution from Hydro One, as well.

So that was the message that I received.  I don't think folks have the sorts of questions that we were going into today, but there may be a need for these two witnesses.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Andre, perhaps, I could certainly have him here.  I don't know that –- if Mr. But could at least be excused, I will have Mr. Andre here.  He is the rate man.  Would that be satisfactory?

MS. LEA:  I can't speak for other counsel, sir.  I don't know exactly what they were asking for, so I can't particularize.

MR. ROGERS:  With your permission, sir that is what I will do.  If it becomes necessary, I can have Mr. But brought up.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that makes sense.

Mr. Buonaguro, you have something to add?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I was just going to follow up on behalf of Mr. Thompson without any instruction from Mr. Thompson, because Mr. DeRose is going to be here.  I don't know what his response is to the rejections that Hydro One has made with respect to the questions they are asking.

So I thought –- and again, I haven't looked closely at the questions and missed part of what Mr. Rogers was saying, but if in the event that they convince the Board or wants to convince the Board that answers should be given, presumably they would be done by way of undertaking in any event?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will cross that bridge when we get there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It doesn't matter if the panel is here or not.  I think that is what I am trying to get at.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.  Thank you.

Any redirect, in that case, for these witnesses?

MR. ROGERS:  No, sir.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So Mr. But, you are provisionally discharged.

MR. BUT:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You may be asked to re-attend on Monday.
Procedural Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And we will resume on Monday morning at 9:30.  We will have argument on the Board document to begin on Monday morning.  Hopefully, that will not take more than a couple of hours on Monday morning, and that we will be in a position to resume with the panel, Mr. Andre, on Monday afternoon and the IESO 6b panel.

So we will adjourn until Monday morning.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:20 p.m.
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